X-2300E/X-3200E Series

Technical Manual

Rev.1.01

Table of contents

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	6
1.1. Scope	6
1.2. Printer description	6
1.3. Related manuals	6
2. PRINTER SPECIFICATION	7
2.1. Printing	7
2.2. Media and Ribbon	
2.3. Fonts	9
2.4. Bar code	
2.5. Graphic	
2.6. Electrical and Operating environment	
2.7. Physical dimension	
2.8. Agency list	
2.9. Communication	
3. CONTROLS AND INDICATORS	23
3.1. Front panel	23
3.2. LCD Setting	25
3.2. Rear panel	
4. OPTIONS	33
4.1. Cutter mechanism	33
4.2. Dispenser and Rewinder	33

4.3. Super (Add-on) Card	33
4.4. External Media Stacker	33
4.5. Argokee	33
5.SETUP and DIAGNOSITC	34
5.1. Inlet power voltage and grounding	
5.2. Perform the self test	
5.3. Perform the curves	39
5.4. Printer reset	
6. CALIBRATION AND ADJUSTMENTS	42
6.1. Media sensor position adjustment	
6.2. Media sensor calibration	43
6.3. Print head pressure adjustment	44
6.4. Print head print line adjustment	46
6.5. Ribbon tension adjustment	48
6.6. Printing wrinkle adjustment	50
7. OPTIONAL PARTS INSTALLATIONS	52
7.1. Cutter Installation	52
7.2. Dispenser/Rewinder installation and adjustment	56
8. FIRMWARE UPGRADING	61
8.1. Upgrade Firmware in Normal Case	
8.2. How to Transferring Emulation	69
8.3. Upgrade firmware in crashed case	70

8.4. Verification	70
9. MAINTENANCE AND TROUBLE SHOOTING	71
9.1. Printer status indication	71
9.2. Trouble Shooting	73
9.3. Clearance	77
9.4. Replacement	78
9.5. Cutter with paper jam	83
10. OPERATIONAL THEOREM	85
10.1. System block diagram	85
10.2. Main board block diagram and description	87
10.3. Panel board block diagram and description	
10.4. Sensor board diagram and description	
10.5. Wiring diagram	
11. ETHERNET MODULE SPECIFICATION	93
12. ETHERNET PRINTER ADDITIONAL COMMANDS	94
13. ETHERNET PRINTER STATUS/ACTIVITY INDICATORS	101
13.1 Ethernet Module Status/Activity indicators	101
13.2 Ethernet Printer Status/Activity indicators	101
14. HOW TO GET IP ADDRESS	102
15. ETHERNET INFORMATION AND SETTING	105
16. ETHERNET PORT SETTING	107

17. RESET ETHERNET CARD	112
18. REBOOT ETHERNET CARD	113
19. PRINTER UTILITY	114
19.1. Download/Upgrade firmware	114
19.2. Printer setting	116
19.3. PrinterInfo	118
20. Self-test Information In Net Printer	120
20.1. Perform Self-test Diagnosis	
21. ASSEMBLY DRAWING	125

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. Scope

This manual contains the information necessary for the proper maintenance of X-2300E/X-3200E series printer of ARGOX. Most of the information included relates to hardware and mechanical parts.

1.2. Printer description

The ARGOX X-2300E/X-3200E series printer is a high-performance low-cost direct thermal and thermal transfer label printer. Its user-friendly design and affordable price set new standard for the heavy duty label printer in retail, office and industrial applications. The printer is designed with the most efficient memory management technology -*True Speed*, prints up to 5 or 6 inches /second when bundled with its smart printer driver, the user can easily print a label by using any Windows applications, e.g. Microsoft Word, Bar Tender, Printer Utility and Font Utility under Windows 2000/NT/XP/Vista/7. All popular bar codes and fonts are resident in the printer memory to handle versatile application .It also provide a PS/2 keyboard interface for standalone operation which enables the user to control the printer by using a simple PS/2 keyboard .

The solidly designed mechanism allows quick and easy media and ribbon loading. The optional Dispenser and Cutter provide the alternatives of fan-fold label and continuous media handling.

1.3. Related manuals

- User's manual
- Programmer's manual
- Ethernet Printer User's Manual

2. PRINTER SPECIFICATION

2.1. Printing

Model	X-2300E X-3200 X-3200E										
Emulation	PPLA/PPLB and PPLZ										
Resolution	203 DPI (8 dots/mm)	03 DPI (8 dots/mm) 300 DPI (12 dots/mm)									
Interface	RS232, USB, CENTRONICS, Ethernet, PS/2,	RS232, USB, CENTRONICS, Ethernet, PS/2,									
Print method	Thermal transfer and direct thermal										
Max print width	Max 4.09" (104mm)	Max 4.16" (105.7mm)									
Max print length	Max 100" (2540mm) Max 50" (1270mm)										
Print speed	Up to 6" (152.4mm) per second	Up to 5" (127mm) per s	o 5" (127mm) per second								
Memory	16M bytes DRAM (13M user available), 8M bytes FLASH (6M user available)										
Ribbon	Ribbon wound ink-side in or ink-side out available										
Media Sensors	Reflective (movable) x 1, See-through (movable) x 1, Head Open Switch x 1										
RTC	RTC on board (with CR2032 battery; 3V)										
CPU	32 bit RISC microprocessor										
Panel	3 LEDs, 3 buttons										
Display	Type 1: LCD Display 16 cl Type 2: LCD Display 18 cl	haracters x 2-lines haracters x 2-lines or 9 (Chinese word x 2-line								

2.2. Media and Ribbon

ltem	Description						
	Max width 4.4" (112 mm)						
	Min width 1" (25.4 mm)						
Media size	Thickness .0025"~. 01" (.0635mm ~. 254mm)						
	8" (203mm) OD on a 3" (76mm) ID core						
	7" (178mm) OD on a 1.5" (38mm) ID core						
Ribbon tuno	Wax, Wax/Resin, Resin						
Кірроп іуре	(Ribbon wound ink-side in or ink-side out)						
	Ribbon width – 1"~4" (25.4~101.6mm)						
	Ribbon roll – max OD 3" (76 mm)						
Ribbon size	Ribbon max length – WAX 360M, Resin 300M						
	Core size - ID 1" core (25.4 mm)						
Media type	Roll-feed, die-cut, continuous, fan-fold, tag, ticket in thermal paper or plain paper						

2.3. Fonts

2.3.1. Internal Font

Programming Language	PPLA
Internal fonts	9 fonts with different point size 6 fonts with ASD smooth font. Courier font with different symbol sets
Symbol sets (Code pages)	Courier font symbol set: Roman-8, ECMA-94, PC, PC-A, PC-B, Legal, and PC437 (Greek), Russian.
Font size	1x1 to 24x24
Character rotation	0, 90, 180, 270 degree, 4 direction rotation

Programming Language	PPLB
Internal fonts	5 fonts with different point size
Symbol sets (Code pages)	8 bits code page : 437, 850, 852, 860, 863, 865. 7 bits code page: USA, BRITISH, GERMAN, FRENCH, DANISH, ITALIAN, SPANISH, SWEDISH and SWISS. (300 dpi only supports 437,850,852,860,863,865)
Font size	1x1 to 24x24
Character rotation	0, 90, 180, 270 degree, 4 direction rotation

Programming Language	PPLZ
Internal fonts	8 (A~H) fonts with different point size. 8 AGFA fonts: 7 (P~V) fonts with fixed different point size (can't scale). 1 (0) font with scaling point size.
Symbol sets (Code pages)	USA1, USA2, UK, HOLLAND, DENMARK/NORWAY, SWEDEN/FINLAND, GERMAN, FRANCE1, FRANCE2, ITALY, SPAIN, MISC, JAPAN, IBM850.
Font size	1x1 to 10x10
Character rotation	0, 90, 180, 270 degree, 4 direction rotation

2.3.2. Font Utility

The function of converted files is extended. It supports ASCII and Asia fonts; the soft-font supports ASCII and the Argox supports ASCII and Asia fonts. The following context will detail to user

I. Option:

Before downloading and converting fonts, user must set related in **Option page**.

1. Communication:

User can choose interface for download and related setting in this option.

2. Printer:

First, user must choose correct dpi and language, because each dpi has different file size and each language has different formats.

The storage can let fonts to be saved in memory or flash (if fonts are not saved in flash, after restarting the font will be cleared). User can clear soft-font or Argox format font in flash individually.

🐴 Font Utility	🖡 Font Utility 📃 🗆 🔀												
Option Soft-Font Argo	x Format Font 🛛 Converted File 🗍 /	About											
Communication Port -		Printer											
LPT1	Port : LPT1	300 doi	Storage										
COM1	Serial Setting		C Memory										
COM2 FILE	Baud rate : 9600 📃	Language	Elash										
USB LAN	Data bits : 8	PPLA											
	Parity : None 💌	C PPLB	Clear Soft-Font in Flash										
	Stop bits : 1												
Search Net Printer	192 . 168 . 1 . 100	C PPLZ	Clear Argox Format Font in Flash										

II. Soft-Font:

The converted range is from 0~255 in soft-font

- 1. Font ID: for identifying fonts when programming.
- 2. **Predefined Character Sets:** user can choose the range they need from this table and the yellow part represents the final characters chosen by user. User can also use mouse's right/left button to delete/add characters.
- 3. "Font...": user can change fonts' size, type and script.
- 4. **"Convert...**": this is for user to convert fonts. The converted file can save as another file. In different language; the font will be converted to its own format.
- 5. **Download...**: download soft-font files.
- 6. **Test...**: in this part, user can get a test file to test fonts which are saved in printer.

4 . 1	Fo	nt	Uti	lity	£.																			/								_ [<	
Opl	tio	۱	Sof	t-Fo	ont	:	Arç	jox	Fo	rm	at I	For	nt	С	יחס	/er	ted	l Fil	e	Ab	ou	X													
F	For	nt <u>I</u> l	D:			I	Pre	def	ine	ed (Cha	ara	cte	er ≦	jets	:				/				C	har	act	:er	Co	de:	4					
Γ	10	2			·		Fu	ll Sy	ym	bol	Se	et.						/				•		1	7 (11	H))							
		Re	eset			- 0	Fu Nu Alp Nu Alp Cu	ll Sy mei bhai mei bhai sto	/m ric/ Nu ric/ Nu m/	bol 'Sp me 'Sp Me No	Se ric/ eci/ ric/ n-s	t 'Sp al I 'Sp tar	eci inte eci	al ern al I ard	atio Inte Sul	ona erna	ıl atic	na							· +				2						
	ത	ΔF	3 6	Ē	F	F	G	Ĥ	ī	ī	к	î li	м	M		0		s	T	Ū	v	w	χŀ	717	, İî	1	Īī	Á	÷-		Eon	t			
	ñ	all		d	e	f	ā	h	i	ī	k		m	n li			ır	s	t	ŭ	Ŷ	wb	χŅ	/ z	1	ĥ	5	$\overline{\sim}$	0	-			-		
	€	Н,	Ŧ		Ī	Ŧ	ŧ	2	%	š	2	đ		žľ		F	P	ų.	~	•	_	Ĩ	~ 7	۳Mğ	15	lœ	Ē	ž	Ÿ		Conve	ert	_	╢	-
		i	t£	×	¥	1	ş		©	а	«	_	-	®.			= 2	з	2	μ	1	·]		1 0	»	1/2	1/2	3/2	Ż		Downle		1		
	À	Á,	ÂÂ	Ä	Å	Æ	Ç	È	É	Ê	Ë	Ìİ	Í	îi	i f	ρŔ	ίĊ	Ó	Ô	Õ	Ö	×	Ø	ΣĽ	ΪÛ	Ü	Ý	Þ	ß	-			-		
	_	_			1					_							2 N	1.2		~						1.0	1.2				Test		-		-

III. Argox Format Font

Argox Format Font supports Asia Fonts. There are two ways (Full character and User define) to decide characters range, then to convert Argox Format Font. It has font format for all language.

1. **Full Character**: this function can convert all characters of scripts, so different scripts have different characters count.

🐴 Font Utility	
Option Soft-Font Argox Format Font	Converted File About
Encode Type • Full Character	ine ASCII Character
Select Font Eont Font ID 900	Full ASCII Character Use Custom Subset At Soft-Font
	Convert Download Read Test

 User Define: all characters of scripts maybe cause memory full. If user downloads all words, but the font's sizes are too large, user can through "User Define" function to define converted characters range that contain both "ASCII" item and "User Define" item to be mixed total characters.

ASCII:

It only decide 0~255 range.

"<u>Disable ASCII Character</u>": the converted files will not include 0~255 characters. "<u>Full ASCII Character</u>": the converted files will included 0~255 characters.

🐴 Font Utility	
Option Soft-Font Argox Format Font Converted F	File About
Encode Type Full Character User Define Select Font Font ID 900	ASCII C Disable ASCII Character Full ASCII Character Use Custom Subset At Soft-Font User Define ARGOX Convert Download Read Iest

"<u>Use Custom Subset At Soft-Font</u>": the range reference "Soft-Font"->"Predefined Character Sets"->"Custom/Non-standard Subset" contents. The converted range is chosen by user.

🤼 F	on	t D	ftil	ity	ŗ																											_ □ 🛛
Opti	on	S	oft	-Fo	ont	A	rg	gox Format Font Converted File About																								
Font ID: Predefined Character Sets:								_	Character Code:																							
1	02			•	·		<u>Eu</u> :	sto	m/	'No	n-:	sta	nd	arc	ls	ubs	set							r		30	(1E	н;)		
	Reset Full Symbol Set Numeric/Special AlphaNumeric/Special Numeric/Special																															
		11	L	Г	T	ΞĹ	١p	hal	Nu	me	ric,	(Sp	ec	ial	Int	er	nat	ior	nal						Ŀ	<u>+</u>	÷					
	!	<u>"</u>	<u>#</u>	\$	%	<u>84</u>	<u>u</u> s	sto	<u>m/</u>	Nor	<u>n-s</u>	tar 1	nda	arc	S	lpa	et	_	_	_	_	_	-		9	Ŀ	Ł	<u><</u>	=	≥	2	
Ś	ŊΑ	B	C	D	E	<u>E</u>	<u> </u>	Ы	Ī	j	К	L	M	N	<u>0</u>	P	Q	<u>R</u>	<u>S</u>	Τ	U	V	W	X	Y	Ζ	1	1	1	(Eont
	a	b	<u>c</u>	d	e	f	1	<u>h</u>	i	i	<u>k</u>	1	m	n	<u>o</u>	р	g	r	<u>s</u>	t	<u>u</u>	<u>v</u>	w	x	Y	z	£		3	~	<u> </u>	Convert
€		1.	£	"		<u>†</u>	ŧ	<u>^</u>	%	š	<	₫		ž			` -	2	"	~	•	=	_	~	тм	š	2	œ		ž	Ϋ́	
	i	¢	£	×	¥	ł.	<u> </u>																									
À	Á	Â	Ã	Ä	Å	Æ	<u>c</u>	È	É	Ê	Ë	Ì	Í	Î	Ï	Ð	Ñ	Ò	Ó	Ô	Õ	Ö	×	Ø	Ù	Ú	Û	Ü	Ý	Þ	ß	
à	á	â	ã	ä	å	æ	-	è	é	ê	ë	Ì	ĺ	Î	Ï	ð	ñ	ò	ó	ô	õ	ö	÷	ø	ù	ú	û	ü	Ý	þ	Ϋ́	<u>T</u> est
		_		_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_			_	_																

User Define:

It decide 0~65535 range.

User can input any character or load file context from "Read..." to multi-edit. The context of multi-edit will be converted characters.

IV. Example-Full Character

1. Select [Font]

A Font Utility	
Option Standard Soft-Font Argox Format For Encode Type Full Character User Define Select Font	mt Converted File About
Eont Font ID 900	User Define
	Convert

2. Choose language what from [Script] list.

Font Utility	Font		? 🛛
Option Standard Sol	Font:	Font style:	Size:
Encode Type Full Character Select Font Font	Microsoft Sans Serif Modern The MS Gothic The MS Mincho The MS PGothic The MS PMincho MS Sans Serif	Regular Regular Italic Bold Bold Italic	8 OK 9 Cancel 10 I 11 12 14 16 V
	Effects Strikeout Underline Color: Black	Sample AaBbYyZ Script: Western	2

3. Convert the file.

Font Utility	
Option Standard Soft-Font Argox Format Font C	onverted File About
Encode Type Full Character C User Define Select Font Font Font ID 900	ASCI Disable ASCII Character Full ASCII Character Use Custom Subset At Standard Soft Font User Define
Font info : FaceName : Microsoft Sans Serif PointSize : 8 Weight : 400 MaxHeight : 11 Normal, CharSet : 0	Convert Download Read Test

4. Download the converted file finally.

	Download Font F	ile			? 🛛
	Look in:	Besktop			:
Font Utility Option Standard Soft-Font Argox Format Font Con Encode Type Full Character Select Font Font Font ID 900 Font Font ID 900 FontSize : 8 Weight : 400	My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents My Computer	My Documents My Computer My Network Place:	s icrosoft Sans Serif-H11.arf		
CharSet : 0	My Network Places Font Information Font Style: Point Size: Font D: Memory Required:	File name: F Files of type: A Microsoft Sans Serif Normal 8 900 5120 Bytes	ontID900-CS0-Microsoft Sar rgox Fonts and Old Double-	ns Seriř-H11.arf 💽 Byte Fonts(*.arf) 💽	Open Cancel
Contraction of the second	Printer Type: Device:	All for language mode Memory	el.		

V. Example-User Define

1. In user define mode: user can key in or load file context from "Read..." to multi-edit. Take this picture for example; both ASCII characters and "ARGOX" that total 255 words can download into printer.

🐴 Font Utility	
Option Soft-Font Argox Format Font	Converted File About
Encode Type Full Character © User Defin Select Font Font ID 900	ASCII Disable ASCII Character Full ASCII Character Use Custom Subset At Soft-Font User Define ARGOX
]	<u>Convert</u> <u>Download</u> <u>R</u> ead <u>Test</u>

If user can't download all character (it can avoid memory full), user can only key in some words just they need, but that will not included ASCII characters. *Take this picture for example, user only download "ARGOX" into printer.*

🐴 Font Utility	
Option Soft-Font Argox Format Font Converted F	ile About
Encode Type C Full Character C User Define	ASCII © Disable ASCII Character © Full ASCII Character
Font ID 900	C Use Custom Subset At Soft-Font
	ARGOX
	Convert Download <u>R</u> ead <u>I</u> est

User can download Asia Font (like Font Card or Converted files) by pressing
 [Download] button, then choose what Asia Font that you need.

contribute from f	ile			?
Look in:	C Old Double	-Byte Font	- - -	
My Recent Documents	Chinese.arf Japanese.ar Korea.arf Taiwan.arf	f		
My Documents				
32				
My Computer	1			
My Computer	File name:	×.arf	.	Open
My Computer My Network Places	File name: Files of type:	*.arf Argox Fonts and Old Double-	▼ Byte Fonts(*.arf)	Open Cancel
My Computer	File name: Files of type:	*.arf Argox Fonts and Old Double-I	▼ Byte Fonts(*.arf)	Open Cancel

Rev. 1.02	2011/2/17

Programming Language	PPLA	PPLB	PPLZ
	Code 39	Code 39	Code39
	UPC-A	UPC-A	UPC-A
	UPC-E	UPC-E	UPC-E
	Code 128 subset A/B/C	German Postnet	Postnet
	EAN-13	Matrx 2 of 5	Code128 subset A/B/C
	EAN-8	UPC-Interleaved 2 of 5	Interleave 2 of 5
	НІВС	Code 39 with check sum digit	Interleaved 2 of 5 with check
	Codabar	Code 93	sun
	Plessey	EAN-13	Interleaved 2 of 5 with human
	UPC2	EAN-8 (Standard, 2 /5digit	readable check digit
	UPC5	add-on)	Code 93
	Code 93	Codabar	Code 39 with check sun digit
	Postnet	Postnet	EAN-8
	UCC/EAN Code 128	Code128 subset A/B/C	Codabar
1 Dimensional	K-MARK	Code 128 UCC (shipping	EAN-13
Bar Codes	UCC/EAN Code 128	container code)	Plessey
	Random	Code 128 auto	GS1 Data bar (RSS)
	Telepen	UCC/EAN code 128 (GS1-128)	
	FIM	Interleave 2 of 5	
	UCC/EAN code 128	Interleaved 2 of 5 with check	
	Interleave 2 of 5	sum	
	(Standard/with	Interleaved 2 of 5 with human	
	checksum/with human	readable check digit	
	readable check digit)	German Postcode	
	GS1 Data bar (RSS)	Matrix 2 of 5	
		UPC Interleaved 2 of 5	
		EAN-13 2/5 digit add-on	
		UPCA2/5 digit add-on	
		UPCE 2/5 digit add-on	
		GS1 Data bar (RSS)	
	MaxiCode	MaxiCode	MaxiCode
	PDF417	PDF417	PDF417
2 Dimensional	Data Matrix (ECC 200 only)	Data Matrix (ECC 200 only)	Data Matrix (ECC 200 only)
Bar Codes	QR code	QR code	QR code
	Composite Codes	Composite Codes	Composite Codes

2.4. Bar code

2.5. Graphic

Programming Language	PPLA				
Graphics	PCX, BMP, IMG, GDI and HEX format files				

Programming Language	PPLB	
Graphics	PCX , binary raster, BMP and GDI	

Programming Language	PPLZ	
Graphics	GRF, Hex and GDI	

2.6. Electrical and Operating environment

Electrical	: 100~240VAC, 50-60 Hz, 5A	
Environment	: Operating 40 F ° ~ 100°F (4° C ~ 38°C)	
	Storage -67°F ~ 120°F (-20°C ~ 50°C)	
Humidity	: 10%~90% (no condensing)	

2.7. Physical dimension

Weight	: 11kgs (24.6lbs)
Size	: W9.8" x H16.0" x D10.2" (W250 x H260 x D410mm)

2.8. Agency list

CE, cTUVus, FCC class A, CCC

2.9. Communication

Parallel interface: Centronics parallel ports

Serial interface: RS-232

USB interface: USB 2.0 Full-Speed PS/2 keyboard: Standard IBM PC PS/2 keyboard interface Ethernet interface: 10/100M Ethernet port

2.9.1. Parallel Interface Specification

The serial interface of the X-2300E/X-3200E series printer is standard Centronics port with standard 36-pin connector located at the rear of the printer. A standard parallel cable can be used for the interconnection between the host controller and the label printer.

2.9.2. Serial Interface Specification

Serial interface of X-2300E/X-3200E series printer is a RS-232C port with standard 9-pin (DB9-S) connector located at the rear of the printer.

X-2300E/X-3200E series printer employed "Flow Control" mechanism with either RTS/CTS or X-on/X-off (control characters are DC2 and DC4).

Programmable parameters of the serial interface on the X-2300/X-3200 series printer are as the following:

Speed:	2400, 4800, 9600, 19200, 38400, 57600, 115200 bauds
Parity:	Odd, Even or None.
Data Bits:	7 or 8 bits.
Stop Bit(s):	1 or 2 bits.
Factory Default P	arameters: 9600 bauds, no parity, 8 data bits, 1 stop bit.

Pin	Signal	Description
1	Data Set Ready, DSR	Shorted to Pin - 6
2	Received Data, RxD	Input. Serial "Received Data"
3	Transmitted Data, TxD	Output. Serial "Transmitted Data".
4	Data Terminal Ready, DTR	
5	GND	Signal Ground
6	NC	
7	Request to Send, RTS	Output. Used as the control signal for "H/W Flow Control "

8	Clear to Send, CTS	Input. Used as the control signal for "H/W Flow Control"
9	+5V	Output. Pin 9 is reserved for KDU (keyboard device unit)

Table 2.1

A Note:

For recommended connection details between host and printer, please refer to Appendix A of the User's Manual.

2.9.3. USB Interface Specification

Argox X-2300E/X-3200E series label printer provides a standard USB interface which conforms to USB 2.0 full-speed specification. It increases data transfer rate between the host controller and Argox X-2300E/X-3200E series printer and dramatically enhances the performance.

This port complies with USB 2.0 Full-Speed communication.

Pin	Signal	Description
1	VBUS	5V
2	D -	Differential data signaling pair -
3	D +	Differential data signaling pair +
4	GND	Ground

Table 2.2

2.9.4. PS/2 Interface Specification

Argox X-2300E/X-3200E series label printer provides a standard IBM PC PS/2 keyboard interface which allows the user to control the printer with a standard PS/2 keyboard. The scan code set 2 is used and can't be changed.

For detail information of operation, please refer to the user's manual.

The PS/2 keyboard interface on the printer side is a female, 6 pins, and mini. DIN connector.

Pin No.	Direction	Description
1	IN/OUT	DATA
2		N.C.
3		GROUND
4		+5V
5	IN/OUT	CLOCK
6		N.C.

Table 2.3

2.9.5. Ethernet Interface Specification

The following port complies with Ethernet communication.

Pin	Signal	
1	Transmit+	12345678
2	Transmit-	
3	Receive+	
4	Reserved	
5	Reserved	
6	Receive-	
7	Reserved	
8	Reserved	

Table 2.4

3. CONTROLS AND INDICATORS

3.1. Front panel

READY indicator

The READY indicator remains ON when the AC power switch is in ON position except the following conditions:

- The printer is at PAUSE state.
- Receiving data from host.
- Out of ribbon, out of media, canceling a print job or printer fault.

MEDIA indicator

The MEDIA indicator will remain ON under normal operation. It will start to blink and indicates the printer is out of media or fail to detect the gap of media.

RIBBON indicator

When the ribbon detection is enabled by using keys with LCD, the RIBBON indicator is ON for the normal operation and the Blinking indicates the printer is out of ribbon. When the ribbon detection is disabled, the ribbon indicator is OFF and the printer will print without ribbon detection.

LCD display—

16 and 18 characters by 2 rows LCD display are designed to display the printer status; label count left and indicate the error message to the user. It is also used to display the input character from PS/2 keyboard for stand-alone operation. For detail information, please refer to the user's manual.

ANote:

When the TPH temperature is too hot, the thermal protection function will be touched. The MEDIA LED blinks and shows "Print Head Heat" on LCD. The printing job will start until the temperature goes down.

FEED/CONFIG. Key

The FEED/CONFIG. key forces the printer to feed one label when printer is idle (not printing) or if in PAUSE state.

Holding down the FEED/CONFIG. Key then turning on the power switch, the printer will perform a self test and a configuration report will be printed.

PAUSE/CALIBR. Key

The PAUSE/CALIBR. key stops and restarts the printing process in normal operation. If the PAUSE key is pressed while printing is in progress, the printing stops once current label is completed. Press this key again to restart the printing.

Holding down the PAUSE/CALIBR. Key then turning on the power switch, the printer will perform the media sensor calibration.

CANCEL/RESET Key

The CANCEL/RESET key interrupts and deletes the current printing job. If there is an error indication occurs, pressing this key to cancel the error indication.

Holding down the CANCEL/RESET Key then turning on the power switch, the printer will perform a system reset; all the parameters which are stored in flash will be rest to default value.



Front Panel

Button	Function 1 (Press the button)	Function 2 (Press the button and power switch together)
FEED	Feed a label	Perform self test & print configuration report
PAUSE	 Pause printing Press again to resume printing 	Perform a media calibration
CANCEL	 Interrupt and delete a print task 	Reset FLASH settings
	• Force printer to continue after an error is solved.	

There are three buttons, each with two basic functions.

Table 3.1

3.2. LCD Setting

LCD Display Language

LCD language:

ENGLISH (default setting), FRENCH, GERMAN, ITALIAN, SPANISH, PORTUGUESE, CHINESE.

To select a language:

- 1. Press the PAUSE and CANCEL buttons at the same time.
- 2. Hold both buttons for about 3 seconds and release.
- 3. The language selection screen appears.

LANGUAGE	
ENGLISH	

- 4. Press the FEED button for the next language.
- 5. Press the CANCEL button to select and set the language.

Press PAUSE or the PAUSE+CANCEL buttons to exit the language selection screen and enter normal standard mode.

Change LCD Setting From Panel

User may change settings using the buttons on the front panel printer models, in addition to changing settings via software commands.

Change settings via buttons on panel:

Buttons	Function
PAUSE+CANCEL	Press to enter setting mode. (Don't press over 1 second)
	Press again to exit setting mode and return to normal mode.
FEED	Press to show next parameter.
PAUSE	Press to show next setting item.
CANCEL	Selects and saves a parameter to permanent FLASH memory. Unless changed via panel or command the parameter is saved even if you restart the printer.

Table 3.2

Note: Do not change settings during printing or sending printing data.

LCD Function Setting Procedure

The following procedure is an example of setting procedure to direct thermal printing mode:

LCD indicating	LCD setting steps	
READY (203,PPLB)	After printer power in on, LCD will indicate as shown at the left.	
Step 1	Press both PAUSE + CANCEL buttons. Then release the buttons to enter settings.	
PRINT MODE THERM. TRANSFER*	LCD will then prompt LCD function selections; default settings include the "*" sign. For example, the first option of print modes is thermal transfer.	
Step 2	Keep press FEED button until LCD prompts the function setting needed.	
PRINT MODE	For example, the second option of print modes is direct	
DIRECT THERMAL	thermal.	
Step 3	Press CANCEL button to store the setting.	
PRINT MODE		
DIRECT THERMAL *	The option selected will now include the "*" sign.	
Step 4	Press PAUSE button to continue the other settings.	
Back to standard	After LCD function settings are completed, press both	
printing mode	PAUSE + CANCEL and then release them to exit from	

	settings.
READY (203,PPLB)	Now printer is in normal printing mode.

Table 3.3

LCD Function Settings and Parameters

ltem	Range	Factory Default	Remarks
PRINT MODE	DIRECT THERMAL/	THERM.	
	THERM.TRANSFER	TRANSFER	
AUTO-CAL. MODE	MODE 1 MODE 2 MODE 3 MODE 4	MODE 1	Mode 1: Printer performs Auto Calibration after printing the first label, if label height differs from parameters in printer's flash. Mode 2: Printer performs Auto calibration when print head is closed.
			label gap when print head is closed.
			Mode 4: Mode 1/2/3 all disabled. Manual calibration is needed.
CONTROL CODE SET	STANDARD ALTERNATIVE 1 ALTERNATIVE 2 ALTERNATIVE 3	STANDARD	Available only in PPLA printer language.
CUT PEEL OFFSET	-15 ~ 50 mm	0 mm	To adjust cut and peel positions.
PRINT OFFSET	-8 ~ 15 mm	0 mm	Controls vertical print positions.
TPH VER OFFSET	-9~9 mm (PPLA/PPLB) -3~3 mm (PPLZ)	0 mm	To adjust offset of vertical print position.
RECOVER PRINT	ENABLE, DISABLE	DISABLE	Will not reprint after recovering from media-out or ribbon-out errors.
CUTTER INSTALLED	NO YES	NO	If "YES: is selected, printer will then enter CUTTER TYPE and CUT MODE settings.
CUTTER TYPE	ROTARY-NORMAL ROTARY-REVERSE	ROTARY- NORMAL	Available only when CUTTER INSTALLED is set to "YES".

	GUILLOTINE-FULL GUILLOTINE-PART		ROTARY-REVERSE is to recover from paper jam in cutter mode.
CUT MODE	NORMAL CUTTER W/O BACK	NORMAL	Available only when CUTTER INSTALLED is set to "YES".
PEELER INSTALLED	NO YES	NO	
READER INSTALLED	NO YES	NO	Available only in PPLB printer language.
WIN. CON. LEN.	0 ~ 254 mm	0 mm	Available only in Windows with bundled printer driver and for continuous media.
BASE SPEED(IPS)	0 ~ 4 IPS	0 IPS	Available only in PPLA and PPLB printer languages.
COUNTING	DOWN UP	DOWN	
MEDIA SENSER TYPE	REFLECTIVE SEE-THROUGH	SEE- THROUGH	To select for different media types. After changing sensor setting, make sure to calibrate before printing.
BACK FEED	DISABLE ENABLE	DISABLE	Available only in PPLA and PPLB printer languages. Once "ENABLE" is selected, printer enters BACK DISTANCE setting.
BACK DISTANCE	10~40 mm	21 mm	Available only when BACK FEED is enabled.
BASE DARKNESS	0~99 (PPLA) -28~28 (PPLB)	0	Available only in PPLA and PPLB printer languages.
ABS. DARKNESS	0~30	0	To select darkness. Available only in PPLZ printer language.
TRIM. DARKNESS	-30~30	0	To fine-tune darkness. Available only in PPLZ printer language.
BAUD RATE (RS232)	600 / 1200 / 2400/ 4800 / 9600 / 19200 / 38400 / 57600 / 115200	9600	Should be as same as setting of host.
PARITY (RS232)	NONE EVEN ODD	NONE	Should be as same as setting of host.
LENGTH	8 DATA BITS	8 DATA BITS	Should be as same as setting of

(RS232)	7 DATA BITS		host.
CLEAR FLASH	NO	NO	When "YES" is selected, all the label forms, soft fonts, and
	160		graphics stored will be deleted.

Table 3.4

Ethernet Setting and Parameters

	LCD Function	Function	Description
	Display	Options	
1	DHCP	DISABLE	If printer is not connected to a router, with DHCP disabled, settings of IP ADDRESS, SUBNET MASK, and DEFAULT GATEWAY settings will be available on LCD. If DISABLE is changed to be ENABLE, LCD will prompt "ETHERNET CARD UPDATE FINISH"
			Then please reboot the printer.
		ENABLE	If printer has been connected to a router, IP address will be assigned automatically by DHCP server after power on. If ENABLE is changed to be DISABLE, and then again set back as ENABLE I CD will
			prompt "ETHERNET CARD UPDATE FINISH"
			Then please reboot the printer.
2	IP ADDRESS	XXX.XXX.XXX.XXX	xxx range:0~255
3	SUBNET MASK	XXX.XXX.XXX.XXX	4
4	DEFAULT GATEWAY	XXX.XXX.XXX.XXX	When DHCP is disabled, default IP address is 192.168.1.100.
			If "_" sign appears, it means that the DHCP setting is disabled. If not, DHCP setting is enabled.
			 FEED/CONFIG. : change contents. (i.e. from 000.000.000 to 255.255.255.255) PAUSE/CALIBR. : shift "_"sign position. (i.e. from <u>2</u>55.255.255.255 to

			 255.255.255.255) CANCEL/RESET.: view next function option. ("_" sign must be on the third word, for example, xxx). To change IP ADDRESS or SUBNET MASK, enter DEFAULT GATEWAY setting, press CANCEL button once; LCD will prompt "ETHERNET CARD UPDATE FINISH" Restart the printer.
			5. Restart the printer. Note: All settings are valid, if IP ADDRESS, SUBNET MASK and DEFAULT GATEWAY
			settings are complete and printer is restarted.
5	MAC ADDRESS	уууу-уууу-уууу	yyyy range:0000~FFFF

Table 3.5

3.2. Rear panel

PS/2 keyboard connector

For PS/2 standard keyboard connect.

RS232 connector (serial port)

Connector for serial port applications and, usually, it is connected to the COM port of a PC.

USB connector

For USB port connection. Mostly it is connected to the USB port of a PC.

CENTRONICS connector

For parallel port connect. Mostly it is connected to the printer port of a PC.

Ethernet port (RJ-45)

This connector is for Ethernet Card application; it is convenient to use several printers by Ethernet network at the same time.

Power switch

Controls application of AC power to printer. Turning the printer ON while holding down certain front panel key will cause the printer to perform the self test, calibration or system reset. The power should be turned OFF to connect or disconnect any internal cable.

AC power socket

For AC power connection.



4. OPTIONS

4.1. Cutter mechanism

Optional cutter is for cutting labels or tickets. Back feed or without back feed is included for cutting. There are two cutters for user to choose. Please refer to the Table2.4.

Cutter	Thickness	Remark
A2+ Rotary Cutter	0.06mm~0.20mm	
(regular)		
Guillotine Cutter	0.06mm~0.12mm	The label for cutting is suggested
		to be at least 20mm in height.

Table 4.1

4.2. Dispenser and Rewinder

Dispenser and rewinder provides the automatic peel-off and backing paper take-up function.

4.3. Super (Add-on) Card

Super card can be used as add-on card to recover the printer in crashed condition.

4.4. External Media Stacker

External media stacker provides 8" OD label.

4.5. Argokee

ArgoKee provides "standard alone operation" function.

5. SETUP and DIAGNOSITC

5.1.Inlet power voltage and grounding

TheX-2300E/X-3200E series printer is designed for both 110VAC and 220VAC outlet. The line voltage should not lower than 110 VAC or higher than 240 VAC and the printer should be connected to a properly grounded receptacle.

5.2.Perform the self test

Once the printer is first installed, a self test should be performing. To perform the self test, please follow the procedure:

- Turn off the power
- Load the media and ribbon properly
- Press and hold the FEED key then turn on the power.
- Release the FEED key after the printer starts to print. The message "Self Test..." should be displayed on the LCD display if it is installed.
- The configuration report should be printed out as Figure 5.1.
- To return the printer to normal operation, please turn the power OFF and ON again or press the CANCEL key for one second, otherwise the printer will enter dump mode, all input data will not be interpreted.

Contents and Information of X-3200 "PPLB Self Test Label" are as the following:

1. Version Information

This includes firmware version and date information.

2. Standard RAM Size

This message shows standard RAM size in the printer.

3. Available RAM Size

This message shows available memory can be used to hold the downloadable graphics, forms and soft fonts.

4. Flash Type

This message shows what flash type in printer.

5. Available Flash Size

This message shows available flash can be used to hold the downloadable graphics, forms and soft fonts.

6. Font Symbol Set

This message shows symbol set for font.

7. Print Mode

It is either TT (Thermal Transfer with ribbon) mode or DT (Direct Thermal without ribbon) mode.

8. Sensor type

This message shows the sensor type such as reflective sensor.

9. Label-less Calibration Value

Used to check the printer perform label-less calibration or not. If not, Ref. should be 2000 and See. should be 8500.

10.No. of DL Soft Fonts

This message shows the numbers of soft fonts downloaded in printer.

11.RTC Time

This message shows time that RTC records.

12.Int. fonts

This message shows what kind of Asia font downloaded in printer.

13. Cut Count

The message will show how many labels the printer cuts off.

14. Print Length Meter

It keeps the length printed in meters. With this, you may check the print head warranty. The value will not be reset even you replace the TPH or any components.

15. RS232 Protocols

It contains data frame of RS-232 interface: baud rate, parity, data bit, and stop bit.

16. Check Sum

Used to check the firmware flash is correct or not. It should be 0000.

17. Speed/Darkness

Printer speed/darkness setting.

18. Media Type

The message shows media type of this printer.

19. Print Width

The message shows print width in printer.

20. Label Length

The message shows label length in printer.

21. Backfeed Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable when printing.

22. Cutter Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable during cutter is enabling.

23. Peeler Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable during peeler is enabling.

24. Cutter/Peeler Offset value

This will show cutter/peeler offset information.

25.R(X,Y)=

This message shows X and Y coordinates of the origin point.

26.H. position adjust

This message shows horizontal offset about location of printing.
27. Calibration Type Mode

There are four calibration type modes; in this message you can get what mode is used.

28. DIP switch

Sw2	ON	OFF
1	No use	No use
2	DT mode	Normal
3	Factory test	Normal
4	No use	No use
5	Add on card	Normal

29. Font Image

Used to check Internal Fonts are correct or not.

Label Printer with Firmware X3200-B01.00 020810 00->2 STANDARD RAM: 8M BYTES . ▶3 AVAILABLE RAM: 5680K BYTES-FLASH TYPE: ON BOARD 8M BYTES -. 4 AVAILABLE FLASH: 6143K BYTES -► 5 8 bit data: Code Page 437 -► 6 → 7 DIRECT THERMAL -SEE-THROUGH SENSOR (NORMAL) -► 8 → 9 REF:2000 SEE:8500 -----NO. OF DL SOFT FONTS : 0 -►10 RTC time : 2/22/2010 8:59:32 -→11 Int.fonts:NO ANY INTERNAL FONTS -→12 CUT COUNT: 27 -→13 **→**14 PRINT LENGTH METER: 774 M -→15 RS232 : 9600, 8, N, 1P -→16 CHECKSUM : 0000 -SPEED: 41PS DARKNESS: 8 -+17 MEDIA_TYPE: GAP -→ 18 PRINT WIDTH: 800 . +19 LABEL LENGTH: 949 -+20 BACKFEED DISABLE -▶ 21 ▶ 22 CUTTER DISABLE 23 PEELER DISABLE. CUTTER/PEELER OFFSET: -104-→24 →25 R(X,Y) = R(34,0)-H. POSITION ADJUST : 0000-♦ 26 **→**27 CALIBRATION TYPE: MODE 1 s(0,0) U4,0,4,0,42368,0 <u>0,0,1,1,3,3,1,3</u>,3,1, ON T 0FF 0 0 0 0 0 ▶28 29 SW2 1 2 3 4 5 This is internal font 1. 0123456789 ABCabcXyz This is internal font 2. 0123456789 ABCabcXyz This is internal font 3. 0123456789 ABCabcXyz 0123456789 ABCXYZ This is internal font 4.

Figure 5.1

5.3.Perform the curves

Once the printer cannot detect the labels correctly, the curves information should be performed. To perform the curves, please follow the procedure:

- Perform the self test. (Please see 5.2 Perform the self test)
- Release the FEED key until printer starts to print out curves.
- The curves report should be printed as Figure 5.2.

Contents and Information of X-2300E "PPLB Curves" are as the following:

1. Ribbon profile

This curve can check the ribbon sensor is normal or not.

2. See-through-1 profile

This curve can check the movable see-through sensor is normal or not.

3. Reflective profile

This curve can judge media sensor can detect gap correctly or not.

4. TPH resistance profile

This message shows how many bad dots the printer has.

5. Need to enter peeler mode?

After printing curves, you can choose the printer enter peeler mode.

The command <ESC>KIE can only print out the values of sensors and TPH profile.





5.4. Printer reset

Some parameters of the printer can be reset to the factory default value.

- 1. Turn off the printer.
- Press and hold the CANCEL/RESET key then turn on the printer. Release the CANCAL/RESET key when the message "RESET" is displayed on the LCD and READY indicator blinks.

When the reset procedure is completed, "**READY**" message will be displayed on the LCD and **READY** indicator will stop blinking.

The following parameters will be reset to the default value:

- Label parameters
- Printing darkness
- Printing speed
- Symbol set (language)
- Others for specific emulation

6. CALIBRATION AND ADJUSTMENTS

6.1. Media sensor position adjustment

The media sensor senses either the gap between labels or a hole or notch in the media to determine the position and length of the label or ticket stock. When using label with gap, user can position the sensor anywhere inside the gap. But when using media with notch or hole, it may be necessary to reposition the media sensor.

- 1. Open the side cover.
- 2. Release the Print head latch.
- 3. Loading the media properly.
- 4. Adjust the sensor by moving the media sensor adjustment lever left or right (look through the front of the print) checking if the media sensor position mark (Figure 6.1) is located on the top of the notch or hole of the media.
- 5. Closing the Print head latch.
- 6. Closing the side cover.









6.2. Media sensor calibration

After the first time of installation, the print media is changed or the media sensor board is replaced, the media sensor calibration must be performed.

- 1. Loading the media (and ribbon for thermal transfer printing) properly.
- 2. Moving the media sensor to proper position.
- 3. Press and hold down the PAUSE key then turn on the power switch.

During the media calibration, 8 inches of media will be fed out. The READY and MEDIA indicators will be blinking for few seconds during calibration is proceeding then turn ON again after the calibration is completed. Without the proper calibration, the gap detection will not stable especially for the small labels (less than 1.4 inches in height).

After the calibration, all the related parameters will be stored in the FLASH which is located on Main board.

ANote:

After the first time of installation or the media type is changed, this procedure must be carried out. Failure to do it, the media-empty and media-gap detection might be incorrect.

6.3. Print head pressure adjustment

Printing quality can be fine adjusted based on which area on the label the printing quality discrepancy is located.

A. Right Hand Side Enhancement

If the phenomena as shown in Fig. 1 been observed, please turn the Fine Adjustment Knob clockwise slightly then try printing again to justify the printing quality improvement as shown in Fig.2. Repeat the same process until the printing quality is well balanced on both ends of the label.



B. Left Hand Side Enhancement

If the phenomena as shown in Fig. 3 been observed, please turn the Fine Adjustment Knob counter-clockwise slightly then try printing again to justify the printing quality improvement as shown in Fig.4. Repeat the same process until the printing quality is well balanced on both ends of the label.



Once the desired quality has been reached, please make note on the new setting of the Fine Adjustment Knob and the type number of ribbon been used in this printing task for future reference.

[Remark]:

Please note, as shown in Fig. 2 and Fig. 4, the Fine Adjustment Knob is set to "0" as default setting when shipped from Argox factory.

6.4. Print head print line adjustment

When the label only exhibits locally inferior printing quality and the ribbon is not wrinkled, the position of the print head shall be adjusted, and the adjusting position is shown as Fig. 1. The viewing direction is facing the machine, and using hex socket screw driver for the adjustment.

The adjusting portions for two hex socket screw locks marked in Fig. 1 are shown in Fig. 2 and Fig. 3. When the right side of the label exhibits inferior printing quality, as shown in Fig. 2, the screw at the right side shall be adjusted. When the left side of the label exhibits inferior printing quality, as shown in Fig. 3, the screw at the left side shall be adjusted. The adjusting steps are as follows:

- 1. Clockwise rotate the screw a half circle and test printing; observe whether the printing quality has been gradually improved or not; and stop the adjustment if the quality is improved.
- 2. Repeat Step 1; if the printing quality has not been gradually improved after five times, counterclockwise rotate five circles back to the original position and then proceed Step 3.
- 3. Counter-clockwise rotate the screw a half circle and test printing; observe whether the printing quality has been gradually improved or not; and stop the adjustment if the quality is improved.





6.5. Ribbon tension adjustment

Both ribbon supply spindle and ribbon pickup spindle are equipped with control knobs to adjust ribbon tension. The control knobs can rotate to both directions. Rotate the control knob clockwise to increase ribbon tension; rotate it counter-clockwise to reduce ribbon tension.

If the ribbon is wrinkled at ribbon supply, rotate clockwise control knob of ribbon supply, to increase ribbon tension at ribbon supply and further improve ribbon wrinkle. However, please be noted, too much tension at ribbon supply may result in ribbon not moving smoothly. Once it happens, rotate counter-clockwise control knob of ribbon supply, to increase ribbon tension to balance the tension.

If the ribbon is wrinkled at ribbon pickup, rotate counter-clockwise control knob of ribbon pickup, to decrease ribbon tension at ribbon pickup and further improve ribbon wrinkle. If the tension is too little at ribbon pickup, ribbon will not move smoothly, and needs control knob to rotate clockwise to increase tension.

[Remark]:

The ribbon shaft has its user-friendly feature to allow users to adjust the tension of ribbon shaft by rotating the knob. User can reset to factory default tension by adjusting the ribbon shaft while the black line was aligned to the marked arrows. The default setting when shipped from Argox factory is shown as Figure 2 – the two arrows are in line with the black line.





6.6. Printing wrinkle adjustment

During printing, ribbon may wrinkle and cause abnormal printing quality. The following describes how to solve ribbon wrinkle accordingly.



Once the printouts as above appear, the possible cause may be the unequal positions of Ribbon Bracket, which needs to be adjusted properly to make its heights equally the same at both sides. Steps to adjust are as below:

1. Loose the screws at both sides and rotate counter-clockwise:



2. Make sure the Ribbon Bracket is at its lowest position first; then tight up the screws by rotating clockwise.



3. Print a test page to check print quality. If the quality is improved, stop the adjustment; if not, continue with next step.

4. If the test print appears as Figure A, remain the screw at the right of Ribbon Bracket fixed, then loose the screw at the left, and gradually fine-tune upward, until the print quality gets improved.

If the test print appears as Figure B, remain the screw at the left of Ribbon Bracket fixed, and then loose the screw at the right, and gradually fine-tune upward, until the print quality gets improved.

7. OPTIONAL PARTS INSTALLATIONS

CAUTION

The printer electronics are susceptible to static discharge. Wear an anti-static wrist and attach it to the printer chassis

7.1. Cutter Installation

Rotary cutter installation

- 1. Turn off the power switch.
- 2. Remove the top covers on both left and right sides.
- 3. Mount the Cutter baby board to JP15 on Main Board. (Take care of the location and direction).
- 4. Secure two screws (3) to fix cutter (1) on bracket (2) (Figure 7.1).
- 5. Remove the tear-off bracket (5) by releasing screws (4). (Figure 7.2).
- 6. Insert the left side of cutter bracket (7) and secure two screws (6) to the TPH module (Figure 7.3).
- 7. Thread the cutter cable (8) through a hole (Refer to the arrow of Figure 7.3) and route it to JP14 connector (CUTTER) on the Main Board.
- 8. Turn on the power switch and enable cutter from panel setting.



Figure 7.1

Figure 7.2



Figure 7.3

Guillotine cutter installation

- 1. Turn off the power switch.
- 2. Remove the top covers on both left and right sides.
- 3. Mount the Cutter baby board to JP15 on Main Board. (Take care of the location and direction).
- 4. Remove the tear-off bracket (5) by releasing screws (4) (Figure 7.2).
- 5. Thread the cutter cable (8) through a hole (Refer to the arrow of Figure 7.4) and route it to JP14 connector (CUTTER) on the Main Board.
- 6. Insert the left side of cutter bracket (7) and secure three screws (6) to the TPH module (Figure 7.4).
- 7. Turn on the power switch and enable cutter from panel setting.





Install the media and the ribbon after the cutter is proper installed.

- 1. Put the media end on the roller.
- 2. Close the TPH latch.
- 3. Hold the PAUSE/CALIBR button then turn on the power switch.
- 4. Release the button when the cutter starts cutting.
- 5. After cutting the printer will feed the label for about 8 inches.

The above procedure is taken at first time after installation or cutter jam. Normally the procedure is:

- 1. Put the media end on the roller.
- 2. Close the TPH latch.
- 3. Turn on the printer.
- 4. Press the FEED button to let the media end go through the cutter.

In general the cutter cuts the label at the center of the media gap. User may change the cutting position for special media by sending a shift command to the printer:

1. You may send a shift command.

<ESC>KI;_

where "-" is a signed byte and in terms of dots. This parameter can be saved permanently in the FLASH.

2. Alternatively you may change the parameter from panel CUTTET/PEELER OFFSET.

7.2. Dispenser/Rewinder installation and adjustment

7.2.1. Installation

- 1. Turn off the power switch.
- 2. Remove the top covers on both left and right sides.
- 3. Assemble the related components for both left and right sides. Refer to the Figure 7.5.



Figure 7.5

 Connect the dispenser sensor assembly (11) to JP12 (PEELER) on main board and secure the dispenser board in front of TPH module. Refer to the Figure 7.5-1. Then secure three screws to the TPH module (Figure 7.5-2).



Figure 7.5-1





5. Install the ribbon and the media. As figure 7.6.



Figure 7.6

- 6. Turn on the power switch.
- 7. Select the PEELER INSTALL item on LCD and enable it.

7.2.2. Adjustment

The tension of the take-up spindle is adjustable by adjusting the screw (13) (Figure 7.7). The Spindle of the dispenser kit must be parallel with the exit media or label. To adjust the position may Loosen the two screws (14) and (15) (Figure 7.8), reposition the spindle and secure the screws.



Figure 7.8

0,

Modification for using the ribbon with outside coating

The printers are produced to use the ribbon with inside coating. It is also possible to use the outside coating ribbon by doing the following modification:

1. Pull up and hold the shaft as shown in Figure 7.9.



Figure 7.9

2. Shift the shaft to the position under with mark "OUTSIDE" and release the shaft. (Figure 7.10)



Figure 7.10

- 3. Readjust the tension of the ribbon supply spindle (refer to section 6.5).
- 4. After the modification, ribbons with outside coating can be used and the ribbon should be loaded as Figure 7.11.



Figure 7.11

8. FIRMWARE UPGRADING

Firmware in Printer X-2300E/X-3200E series can be upgraded through the USB, Centronics and Ethernet. The following describes how to upgrade Firmware in Normal and Crashed cases.

8.1. Upgrade Firmware in Normal Case

8.1.1Upgrade Firmware with Printer Utility

Run the printer utility and let the firmware modify itself.

- 1. Turn on the printer and wait for 3 seconds.
- 2. Execute Printer Utility to upgrade firmware; select Download Tab, choose correct model name and language, click Brower to find the firmware source.

🎾 Printer Utility of Barcode 1	Printer		
Setting Help)		
Printer Setting Printer Getting	Download PrinterInf	0	
Product: Printer Interface: USB Interface: USB IDT1 IDT2 FILE FILE FILE	X-1000+ X-1000v X-1000VL X-2000+ X-2000 ZIP X-2000v ZIP X-2000v ZIP		
C PPLA	X-2300E X-2300ZE X-3000+ X-3200 X-3200Z X-3200Z		222007
C PPLZ	X-3200E X-3200ZE		
Command Function Firmware Update File Graph Command File or Other Quick Basic File	:: X2300-Ba.bin	Browse	efault language in bin PPLA PPLB PPLZ
L	Model : X-23 anguage in file Port : V pdate Firmware	00E PPLB : PPLA PPLB JSB :X2300-Ba bin	

- 3. Wait for some seconds until LCD shows "RESTART PRINTER."
- 4. Restart printer.
- 5. Upgrading firmware is completed.

8.1.2Upgrade Firmware through Network

We will meet two conditions as following:

- 1. PC connects many printers (must connect Router) (I.)
- 2. PC connects one printer (II.) (III.).

I.

- 1. Connect PC and printers to a router by Ethernet cables.
- 2. Set the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) contents as "Obtain IP/DNS address automatically".

General Authentication Advance	Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) F	Properties 🛛 🛛 🕐
Connect using:	General Alternate Configuration	
Wware Accelerated AMD F	You can get IP settings assigne	d automatically if your network supports
This connection uses the following	this capability. Otherwise, you not the appropriate IP settings.	eed to ask your network administrator for
Client for Microsoft Netwo	Obtain an IP address autor	matically
 Image: Starting for the sta	O Use the following IP addre	\$\$:
☑ There Protocol (TCP/IP)	IP address;	
	Subnet mask:	1 4 2 2
Linstall Unins	Default gateway.	
Transmission Control Protocol/In	Obtain DNS server addres	s automatically
wide area network protocol that across diverse interconnected n	O Use the following DNS ser	ver addresses:
Show icon in notification area w	Preferred DNS server:	
Notify me when this connection	Alternate DNS server.	
		Advanced

3. Open IE and key in "the default IP address for router." (*The default IP address of router (3COM) is <u>http://192.168.1.1</u>)*

🗿 3Com - Wireless 11n I	Firewall Router - Microsoft Internet Explorer
File Edit View Favorite:	s Tools Help
🌀 Back 🔹 🕥 - 💌	😰 🐔 🔎 Search 🧙 Favorites 🔣 🎯 🥸 漫 😹
Address 🙆 http://192.168.1	1/login.stm
<i>۵</i> ۵	Cable/DSL Wireless 11n Firewall Router
3COM	Login Screen
	Enter System Password
	System Password ••••• (default:admin)
	Log in Cancel
	Note: The password is case sensitive. Click <u>here</u> if you can't remember the password.

4. Enter password and log in, the result is as bellow:

<i>وه</i> 300m	Cable/DSL Wireless 11n Firewall Router Welcome Notice Board Password Wizard	
• Welcome LAN Settings Wireless Settings Internet Settings Firewall	Welcome to the Cable/DSL Wireless 11n Firewall Router Version 1.00.00 (22 Jul 2008 13:46:48)	
Advanced VPN	Wireless Networking is Switched off ! Wireless Encryption is Switched off !	
System Tools Status and Logs Support/Feedback	Please select an option on the left hand side or go to the "Password" and "Wizard" tabs to configure your Router.	
LOG OUT	Status : Ready	

5. Find out **DHCP Clients List** in **LAN Settings**, you can get the IP address of PC and printers, the result is as bellow:

3COM 3COM	Cable/DSL Wireless 11n Firewall Router LAN Settings Unit Configuration DHCP Clients List						
Welcome LAN Settings 	IP Address	Host Name	MAC Address	Client Type	Fix	Configure	
Wireless Settings	192.168.1.2	Net Printer	00-11-E5-01-80-C0	LAN		Release	Help
Internet Settings	192.168.1.4	sylvia-xp	00-15-58-BB-A7-A0	LAN		Release	Apply
Firewall							
Advanced VPN	Fixed IP Setting				<u> </u>		Cancel
System Tools	192 168 1		MAC Address			Add	Refresh
] 1	77		_	Add	
Status and Logs							
Support/Feedback							
LOG OUT							

6. Open another IE and enter the related IP address(<u>http://192.168.1.2</u>), we can check the server status and the printer status, the result is as bellow:

SERVER STATUS PRINTER STATUS CONFIG Engli					
SERVER STATUS					
	Server Status				
	Machine Information				
	Firmware Version: 0.90 MAC Address: 00-11-E5-01-80-C0				
	Server Information				
	Server Name: Net Printer Description: KCodes 802 USB Device Server				
	TCP/IP Status				
	IP Address : 192.168.1.2 (dhcp) Subnet Mask : 255.255.0 Gateway : 192.168.1.1 DNS Server : 1.0.0.0 DHCP Server : 192.168.1.1 Lease Time : 86400 second				
	Raw TCP Printing: - TCP Port: 9100				

SERVER STATUS PRIN	TER STATUS CONFIG English 日本					
PRINTER STATUS						
I KINIEK SIAIO	3					
	Printer Status					
	Printer Status					
	Firmware Version: X-2300E PPLB 080910					
	Baud Rate: 9600					
	Parity Bit: NONE					
	Data Bits: 8 Bits					
	Stop Bit: 1 Bit					
	Host Handshake: XON/XOFF & CTS/RTS					
	Standard RAM Size: 16 MB					
	Available RAM Size: 14266176 Bytes					
	Internal Font Symbol Set: Code Page 437					
	Thermal Type: TRANSFER THERMAL					
	Sensor Type: TRANSMISSIVE					
	Total Printed Label No.: 0					
	Total Printed Label Len.: 7 M					
	Flash Memory Type: INTERNAL					
	Standard Flash Memory Size: 4MB flash on board					
	Available Flash Memory Size: 6144 KB					
	Labeless Calibration Result: R(0x2000) S(0x4298)					
	Print Mode: NORMAL					
	Label Size: 10 mm (dots)					
	Speed: 3					
	Darkness: 8					
	Max Print Width: 104 mm					
	Max Print Length: 101 inches					

7. Click **CONGFIG**, the firmware of Ethernet card and printer can be upgraded here.



II.

- 1. Connect PC and printer with Ethernet cable. Then restart the printer for about 1 minute.
- Set the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) content. Please assign the IP address as [192.168.1.xxx].

Connect using:	Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	Properties ?
VMware Accelerated AMD P This connection uses the following i Client for Microsoft Networl GR File and Printer Sharing for GR Packet Scheduler So Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	General You can get IP settings assigne this capability. Otherwise, you no the appropriate IP settings. Obtain an IP address autor Use the following IP addre IP address:	d automatically if your network supports eed to ask your network administrator for matically ss: 192 . 168 . 1 . 5
Install Uninst Description Transmission Control Protocol/Int wide area network protocol that p across diverse interconnected ne	Subnet mask: Default gateway: O Obtain DNS server addres	255 . 255 . 255 . 0
☐ Show icon in notification area were were notify me when this connection I	 Use the following DNS ser Preferred DNS server: Alternate DNS server: 	ver addresses:

3. Open another browser and enter the specific IP address(*http://192.168.1.100*) for printer, we can get related status of server(Ethernet card) and printer, the result is as bellow:

SERVER STATUS PRINTE	R STATUS CONFIG English
Server Status	
	Server Status
	Machine Information
	Firmware Version: 0.90 MAC Address: 00-11-E5-01-80-C0
	Server Information
	Server Name: Net Printer Description: KCodes 802 USB Device Server
	TCP/IP Status
	IP Address : 192.168.1.100 (static IP) Subnet Mask : 255.255.255.0 Gateway : 192.168.1.100 DNS Server : 1.0.0.0 DHCP Server : 0.0.0.0 Lease Time : 0 second
	Raw TCP Printing: - TCP Port: 9100

SERVER STATUS | PRINTER STATUS | CONFIG

English

PRINTER STATUS

Printer Status

Printer Status
Firmware Version: X-2300E PPLB 080910
Baud Rate: 9600 Parity Bit: NONE Data Bits: 8 Bits Stop Bit: 1 Bit Host Handshake: XON/XOFF & CTS/RTS
Standard RAM Size: 16 MB Available RAM Size: 14266176 Bytes
Internal Font Symbol Set: Code Page 437
Thermal Type: TRANSFER THERMAL Sensor Type: TRANSMISSIVE
Total Printed Label No.: 0 Total Printed Label Len.: 7 M

III.

- 1. Choose what printer you want to upgrade firmware, and then select LAN.
- 2. Input IP Address.
- 3. Choose **.bin** file to upgrade firmware.

Printer Utility of Barcode)	Printer		
Setting Help			
Printer Setting Printer Getting	Download PrinterInf	fo	
Product: Printer Interface: AN Interface: A	X-1000+ X-1000VL X-2000+ X-2000 ZIP X-2000V X-2000V ZIP X-2300E X-3300ZE X-3300ZE X-3200Z X-3200E X-3200E X-3200E X-3200E X-3200E	Browse	fault language in bin PPLA PPLB PPLZ
Quick basic Hile		Download	
Message:			
L	Model : X-23 anguage in file Port : 1 pdate Firmware	00E PPLB : PPLA PPLB LAN :X2300-Ba.bin	

8.2. How to Transferring Emulation

In **Printer Setting** page, user can see **Command II**. **Command II** has **Emulation** function. In **Emulation** function, user can transfer printer emulation easily.

Let take OS-2140 printer for example. This printer default emulation is PPLA, if user wants to operate printer in PPLB mode, user can enter **Printer Setting** page to choose **Emulation**, then click **PPLB** in Emulation section.



8.3. Upgrade firmware in crashed case

In very abnormal case, the Boot-Up program located at BOOT sector of Flash ROM in printer might be crashed (supposedly it is impossible to happen). This will cause the printer fail to perform firmware upgrade with the above normal procedures. In this case, you might refer to below to upgrade the Firmware.

- 1. Please install the add-on card.
- 2. DIP switch on DIP 5 should be put on "ON" position.
- 3. Turn ON the printer and wait until all LEDs are blinking at the same tempo.
- 4. Turn OFF the printer.
- 5. Put DIP switch on DIP 5 to the "OFF" position again.
- 6. Turn ON the printer, if "READY" LED blinks that means the crashed case is solved.
- 7. If the firmware is not latest, please refer to steps in section **8.1** to upgrade the latest firmware.

8.4. Verification

To confirm that you had successfully changed the firmware you just check the self/configuration printout.

- 1. Turn off the printer until all the LED go OFF
- 2. Press the FEED/CONFIG button and turn on the printer
- 3. When the motor starts rotation release the button
- 4. Check the version code and date code, also the checksum code (must be 0000).

9. MAINTENANCE AND TROUBLE SHOOTING

9.1. Printer status indication

The printer has built-in monitors for the status. The status and error indications will be displayed on the front panel LED indicators and the LCD display if it is equipped. Generally, when a malfunction or an abnormal condition occurs, the READY LED will keep blinking and printing and communication between the host and printer will stop. To understand the problem, please check the LED indicators and LCD display on the front panel.

CAUTION

The printer electronics are susceptible to static discharge. Wear an anti-static wrist and attach it to the printer chassis.

LCD display	Blinking LED	Description
PAUSE	READY	The printer is at pause state. Press PAUSE or CANCEL
		to return to normal state.
MEDIA OUT	MEDIA	The media is not installed or used up.
	READY	Printer fails to detect the media gap.
RIBBON OUT	RIBBON	The ribbon is not installed or end-of-ribbon occurred.
	READY	Load new ribbon to the printer. If you just use thermal
		media, please disable the RIBBON on LCD.
SERIAL IO ERROR	READY	The format or baud rate of the RS232 communication is
		inconsistent between the printer and host.
CUTTER FAILED	READY	The cutter cannot cut off the media, check the media and
		cutter.
MEMORY FULL	READY	The printer buffer is full caused by the loaded soft fonts,
		graphics or forms. Check the format of these data. Call
		for service
SENSOR O.R.	READY	The media sensor is out of range during calibration. Make
		sure the media is installed and the label sensor is put
		under the media.
PRINT HEAD HEAT	MEDIA	Printing job will start until the temperature of TPH goes
		down.

HEAD OPEN	READY	Head latch is not closed; before printing please close up
		head latch.

Table 9.0
9.2. Trouble Shooting

No indication:



Out of media indication:

LCD display	Flash LED	Description	
MEDIA OUT	MEDIA	The media is not installed or used up.	
	READY	Printer fails to detect the media gap.	



Out of ribbon indication:

LCD display	Flash LED	Description
RIBBON OUT	RIBBON	The ribbon is not installed or out of ribbon.
	READY	



Serial port error:

LCD display	Flash LED	Description
SERIAL IO	READY	The format or baud rate of the RS232
ERROR		communication is inconsistent between the printer
		and host.



9.3. Clearance

CAUTION

The printer electronics are susceptible to static discharge. Wear an anti-static wrist and attach it to the printer chassis

There are some components need to be clean-up occasionally:

Thermal print head

The debris of thermal paper or ribbon may collect on the print head causing characters or bar codes to appear light or faded. To clean the print head, wet a soft paper towel with isopropyl rubbing alcohol and use the damp towel to rub the dirt from the print head surface.

To clean the print head after every roll of ribbon is recommended.

Platen roller

If the roller becomes contaminated with grit, label adhesive, or ink, printing quality may be adversely affected. To clean the roller, using a clean cloth and alcohol, wipe off any accumulated debris.

Media sensor

The dirt on the paper sensor will cause the miss or unstable detection of label gap. Clean it with bristle brush or air blow once in a while.

ANote: Switch off the power before cleaning!

9.4. Replacement

Power supply fuse replacement

CAUTION

The printer electronics are susceptible to static discharge. Wear an anti-static wrist and attach it to the printer chassis

- 1. Switch off the power and disconnect the AC power cord.
- 2. Open the left side cover of the printer.
- 3. Replace the fuse which is located at the upper right corner of the power supply with the same specification (5 amps) fuse.
- 4. Close the cover.



Figure 9.1

TPH (thermal print head) replacement

To replace the print head, please follow the procedure as shown on Figure 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4. It is also possible to replace the TPH without remove the print head module.

- Remove the print head cable from the print head.
- Release the screw (F) and (P).
- Remove the print head from the module.







Figure 9.3





Ethernet card replacement

- 1. Switch off the power and disconnect the AC power cord.
- 2. Open the left side cover of the printer.
- 3. Release the 2 screws on centronics (Figure 9.5).
- 4. Release the 8 screws on main-board (Figure 9.6).
- 5. Replace the Ethernet on main-board (Figure 9.7).



Figure 9.5



Figure 9.6



Figure 9.7

RTC battery replacement

- 1. Switch off the power and disconnect the AC power cord.
- 2. Open the left side cover of the printer.
- 3. Unlatch the lock on main-board and replace the battery (Figure 9.8).



Figure 9.8

9.5. Cutter with paper jam

Rotary Cutter with paper jam

If there is paper jam inside rotary cutter, refer to Rotary Cutter Installation section to remove the rotary cutter. Check the Cam as marked in Figure 1, find a slotted screwdriver to turn counter-clockwise as Figure 2. During turning the Cam of cutter, release the blade from paper and them remove the paper from the cutter.



Guillotine Cutter with paper jam

If there is paper jam inside guillotine cutter, check in Figure 1 and find where the screw under guillotine cutter. It is to control cut actions of guillotine cutter. Find a Phillips screwdriver to lay down the blade by turning the screw counter-clockwise. Then paper can be removed from the cutter as Figure 2.



10. OPERATIONAL THEOREM

10.1. System block diagram



Figure 10.0

Main board

A four layers PCBA, consists of a micro-controller, FLASH ROM, SDRAM components required for the printing functions.

Panel board

A two layers PCBA, consist of a three push button switches, three LED indicators and one LCD module (option) for user's access, status and error indication.

Ribbon sensor

A one layer PCBA, consist of a reflective type object sensor designate for ribbon detection.

Media sensor

A one layer PCBA, consist of a reflective type object sensor designate for media/gap detection.

Thermal print head (TPH)

There are 864 heat elements consist in the TPH. Each heat element can be turn on/off individually.

Motor

A bipolar hybrid stepping motor is used for carrying label and ribbon during printing.

Dispenser and rewinder (option)

A mechanism designates for the automatic separation of label and take-up the backing paper.

Peeler sensor (option)

A one layer PCBA, consist of a see-through type object sensor designate to detect the printed label is removed or still exist.

Cutter assembly (option)

Consisting of a DC motor, a switch, gears and a rotary cutter. It is used for cutting the printed label automatically.

SPS (Switching Power supply)

The switching Power supply converts the input power (90VAC to 250VAC) to 24VDC. A 5 Amps fuse is also included in the power supply for over current protection.

Host controller

An equipment which can send the printing command to printer through RS232 serial port, Centronics parallel port or USB port. Usually a PC is connected.

10.2. Main board block diagram and description





Figure 10.1





Figure 10.2

Micro-controller (U1)

A HITACHI 32 bit RISC processor is selected as the controller for this printer. The rich on-chip functions such as: Integrated timer, DMA controller, A/D convert, Serial communication interface, Pattern generator and I/O ports make the printer high performance and compact size.

FLASH memory (U22)

There is a 4M bytes FLASH on the main board to store the program, character and bar code fonts. It also saves some parameters which are stored permanently for printing, communication, ribbon and media detection and special controls.

SDRAM (U21)

A 8M bytes SDRAM is selected as the medium of storage for the printing image. In order to have fast access to the memory, 16 bits data bus width is selected.

Cutter baby board (JP15)

In order to prevent the cutter from stuck, a full bridge driver is used to control the cutter move both in forward and reverse direction.

RS232 driver/receiver (U15)

To convert the serial port signal to/from micro-controller to RS232 voltage level, a RS232 driver/receiver with integral charge pump circuit is used.

CENTRONICS interface (At Centronics board) (JP5)

Through these interface, all the data come from the host controller are latched then read by the Micro-controller.

DC/DC converter (U10, U11, U12, U13)

To convert the 24V input power to 24V, 21V, 17V (for motor), 5V, 3.3V, and 1.5V, to be used as the power supply for micro-controller, flash, SDRAM.....etc.

TPH switch (Q4)

To prevent the TPH from being damaged by the unstable power condition when the printer is switched on, Q4 disconnected the power supply (24V) to the TPH. Q4 has to be activated before printing.

Extension slot (JP8)

This slot is designated for the connection of all optional extension modules (RTC Card and Add-on card).

Motor driver (U32)

In order to have enough toque and fast speed, two motor drivers are used on the main board; each one drives one phase of the bipolar stepper motor.

LED driver (U8)

To provides the sink current to turn on/off the LEDs on the Panel Board.

Keyboard interface (U16, U17, U18, U19, U20)

This interface is a bi-directional synchronize serial interface, fully compatible with

PS/2 keyboard interface of IBM PC. User may use a standard PS/2 keyboard to control the printer.

Ethernet Slot (JP1)

This slot is designate for the connection of all the optional extension modules. i.e.: Ethernet card or GPIO card.

10.3. Panel board block diagram and description

The Panel board consists of three push bottom switches, three LED indicators, and one 16X2 or 18X2 LCD display module for user's access, status and error indication.



10.4. Sensor board diagram and description

The circuit of all the sensor board (Media sensor board, Ribbon sensor board and Peeler board) is identical. A reflective sensor is used for these purposes.





Figure 10.4

10.5. Wiring diagram



Figure 10.5

11. ETHERNET MODULE SPECIFICATION

Items	Contents	
CPU	32-bits, ARM-922, 100MHz	
RAM	8 MBytes (4 M * 16Bits)	
ROM	4 MBytes	
Ethernet	1. Port: RJ-45 Connector	
	2. LAN: 10/100 Mbps (Auto Detecting)	
	 Protocol: ARP, IP, ICMP, UDP, TCP, HTTP, DHCP, rawTCP, LPR, IPP, SNMPTrap 	
	4. Mode: TCP Server/Client, UDP Client	
	5. Setup: HTTP Browser Setup	
	6. Security: Setup Password	
Digital I/O Port	Digital I/O * 5, USB 2.0 * 2	
Firmware	Firmware On-lined Updated Via Ethernet/USB	
LED Lamp	Power	
Environment	Operating Temp. 0℃ ~ 70℃,	
	Storage Temp20℃ ~ 50℃	
Dimensions	67.8 * 64 * 17.2 mm(W * L * H)	
Weight	32 g	

12. ETHERNET PRINTER ADDITIONAL COMMANDS

Parameter types:

- None: no parameter is required
- Signed integer. e.g. +100 or -23
- Unsigned integer. e.g. 32
- Signed byte. Just one byte binary data. e.g.

+3 is represented as 0x03(03H), and -1 as 0xff (0FFH).

Command	Description		
<esc>KIZA</esc>	*Enable/disable switch detection of print head open.		
	*Syntax: <esc>KIZAm</esc>		
	*Parameter:		
	m = 0; disable switch detection of print head open (default)		
	m= 1; enable switch detection of print head open		
	If this function is enabling, label auto-calibration will be performed when the print head is		
	closed.		
<esc>KJA</esc>	Request printer status through Ethernet to show on web page		
	Information about printer status is listed in <u>TABLE1</u> .		
<esc>KJB</esc>	End Job		
<esc>KJH</esc>	Enable printer to check if Ethernet card is alive or not in every second.		
<esc>KJI</esc>	Disable printer to check if Ethernet card is alive or not in every second.		
<esc>KJJ</esc>	Start Job		
<esc>KJK</esc>	*Reset printer function.		
	*Syntax: <esc>KJKm</esc>		
	*Parameter:		
	m=0 disable to reset function (default)		
	m=1 enable to reset function		
	This command is for setting printer.		
<esc>KJL</esc>	*SNMP broadcasted function setting.		
	*Syntax: <esc>KJLmnq</esc>		
	*Parameter:		
	m= 0, disable Ethernet card enquire for printer reset (default)		
	m=1, enable Ethernet card enquire for printer reset.		
	n= 0, disable SNMP function (default)		
	n=1, enable SNMP function		
	q= 1~9 seconds; the time interval which SNMP enquire printer		
	status for. (default value:1)		
	This command is for Ethernet card to enquire Printer.		

<esc>KJOETHERNET</esc>	*Ethernet IP addresses
	*Syntax: <esc>KJOETHERNETm,m,m,n,n,n,n,o,o,o,o,q,q,q,q,q,q</esc>
	*Parameter: "m,m,m,m,": IP address
	"n,n,n,": subnet mask
	"o,o,o,o,": gateway
	"q,q,q,q,": MAC address
	Parameters must be HEX values.
	*Example:
	IP address:192,168,0,42
	("m,m,m,"="0xC0 0x2C 0xA8 0x2C 0x00 0x2C 0x2A")
	After setting Ethernet related setting or upgrading firmware, the Ethernet card will send this
	command to the printer. Print self-test can get the Ethernet related information.
<esc>KJPETHERNET</esc>	* IP addresses setting.
	*Syntax: <esc>KJPETHERNETa,a,a,a,b,b,b,b,</esc>
	*Parameter: "a,a,a,a,": IP address
	"b,b,b,b,": subnet mask
	Parameters must be HEX values.
	*Example:
	IP address:192,168,0,42
	("a,a,a,a,"="0xC0,0xA8,0x00,0x2A)
	If "a,a,a,a,"="0x00 0x2C 0x00 0x2C 0x00 0x2C 0x00 0x2C", the setting will
	become DHCP (auto IP address).
	You can send this command to Ethernet card through PC; print self-test can get the
	Ethernet related information.
	This command is for setting Ethernet card.
<esc>KJQETHERNET</esc>	*Ethernet card gateway setting.
	*Syntax: <esc>KJQETHERNETc,c,c,c,</esc>
	*Parameter: "c,c,c,c,": Ethernet card gateway
	Parameters must be HEX values.
	*Example:
	Gateway:255,255,248,0
	("c,c,c,c,"="0xFF 0x2C 0XFF 0x2C 0xF8 0x2C 0x00")
	You can send this command to Ethernet card through PC; print self-test can get the
	Ethernet related information.

	This command is for setting Ethernet card.		
<esc>KJR</esc>	* Ethernet card version.		
	*Svntax: <esc>KJRm.nn</esc>		
	*Example: <esc>KJR5.21: Ethernet card version is 5.21.</esc>		
	After upgrading firmware, this command will be sent from Ethernet card to the printer. You		
	can print self-test to get Ethernet card version.		
<esc>KJS</esc>	Start Page		
<esc>KJT</esc>	End Page		
<esc>KJU</esc>	*Ethernet SNMP function		
	*Syntax: <esc>KJUmn</esc>		
	m=0, disable Ethernet SNMP function (default)		
	m=1, enable Ethernet SNMP function		
	n= 1~9 seconds; the time interval which SNMP enquire printer		
	status for. (default value:1)		
	If n=0x0D, this indicates n=1 second. In other words, if n is		
	not defined, n=1 second.		
	This command is for setting printer.		
<esc>KJV</esc>	Printer aging test		
<esc>KJW</esc>	*Enquire emulation function		
	*Syntax: <esc>KJWmnop</esc>		
	m= total emulation items; m=3~9(0x33~0x39)		
	Maybe printer has more emulation in the future.		
	n= PPLA emulation; n=0(0x30), PPLA emulation is not exist		
	n=1(0x31), PPLA emulation is used.		
	o= PPLB emulation; $o=0(0x30)$, PPLB emulation is not exist		
	o=1(0x31), PPLB emulation is used.		
	p=PPLZ emulation; $p=0(0x30)$, PPLZ emulation is not exist		
	p=1(0x31), PPLZ emulation is used.		
	If user sends <esc>KJW to enquire emulation through Ethernet card, the printer returns</esc>		
	<esc>KJW3011; This represents printer supports 3 emulations but only PPLB and PPLZ</esc>		
	are in printer now.		
<esc>KJX</esc>	Make printer LEDs blink after the following conditions: 1. Finishing upgrade Ethernet card.		
	2. Complete IP address, subnet mask and gateway setting.		
< ESC>KIYA	* IP Address setting		

	(Da	ta transfer f	orm prir	nter to Ethernet c	ard)	
	*Syn	*Syntax: <esc>KJYAa,a,a,a,b,b,b,b,c,c,c,c</esc>				
	*Para	*Parameter: "a,a,a,a,": IP address				
		"b,b,b,b,": subnet mask				
		"c,c,c,c": Ethernet card gateway Parameters must be HEX values.				
	*Exa	mple:				
		IP address	s:192,16	8,0,42		
		("a,a,a,a,"=	"0xC0 (0x2C 0xA8 0x2C	0x00 0x2C 0x2A	0x2C")
	lf "a,	a,a,a,"="0x0	0 0x2C	0x00 0x2C 0x00	0x2C 0x00 0x2C	", the setting will
	beco	become DHCP (auto IP address).				
<esc>KJYB</esc>	* IP	* IP Address setting				
	(Co	(Communication between PC and printer)				
	<es< td=""><td colspan="4"><esc>KJYBm,a,a,a,a[,b,b,b,b,c,c,c,c]</esc></td></es<>	<esc>KJYBm,a,a,a,a[,b,b,b,b,c,c,c,c]</esc>				
	*Para	*Parameter: Parameter m is setting mode; all parameters of address must be in HEX				
	Para					must be in HEX
	forr	nat.				
		Paramete r		a,a,a,a	b,b,b,b	C,C,C,C
			0x31	Gateway	Ignored	Ignored
			0x32	Subnet Mask	Ignored	Ignored
			0x33	Subnet Mask	Gateway	Ignored
		Mode	0x34	IP Address	Ignored	Ignored
			0x35	IP Address	Gateway	Ignored
			0x36	IP Address	Subnet Mask	Ignored
		0x37	IP Address	Subnet Mask	Gateway	

TABLE1: PARAMETER ID

Parameter	ID	Length	Setting
	(4 bytes)	(bytes)	
All Parameter	0	0	
Firmware Version	2	24	(Max. to 24 characters)
Printer Resolution	5	4	0: 203 4:100
			1: 300

			2: 600	
			3: 900	
Standard RAM Size	7	4	4GB	
Available RAM Size	8	4	4GB	1
Standard Flash	9	4	0: 2MB	A: 1GB
Memory Size			1: 1MB	B: 2GB
			2: 4MB	C: 4GB
			3. 8MB	D: 8GB
			4. 16MB	E: 16GB
			5. 32MB	
			6: 64MB	
			7: 128MB	
			8: 256MB	
			9: 512MB	
Available Flash	10	4	4GB	
Memory Size				
DT/ TT	11	4	0: DT mode	
			1: TT mode	
Media Sensor Type	12	4	0: Reflective	
			1: See Through1	
			2: See Through2	
Print Mode	14	4	00000000: Normal	
			10000000: Backfe	ed Enable
			20000000: Cutter I	Enable
			30000000:Peeler E	Enable
Cut Offset	16	4		
Peel Offset	17	4		
Vertical Offset	18	4		
Horizontal Offset	19	4		
TPH Offset	20	4		
Print Width	21	4	10 ~ 108 (mm)	
Print Length	22	4	100 (inches)	
Darkness	23	4	1 ~ 15 (0~30)	
Speed	24	4	1 ~ 12	

Inter Font Symbol	27	4	ab00 total: 4bytes
Set			a: 1=7 bit b: 1~19
			0=8 bit
			(see <u>table2</u> and show symbol set)
Total Printed Label	28	4	(Only F20L have)
NO.			
Total Printed Label	29	4	
Length			
Labelless CAL.	31	4	abcd : total 4 bytes
Result			ab: reflective empty value
			cd: see through empty value
Label Size	32	4	
Origin Coordination Shift	33	4	
External Card	34	4	RTC card :0x3000000
			Chinese font:0x2010000
			Taiwan font :0x2020000
			Korean font :0x2040000
			Japanese font 0x2080000
Flash Module	36	4	0:External
			1:Internal
			2: Internal
Serial COMM.	40	8	abcd 0000 total: 8 bytes
			a (Baud Rate)
			b (Parity)
			c (Data Bit)
			d (Stop Bit)
			a: 0: 9600
			1: 2400
			2: 4800
			3: 19200
			4: 38400
			5: 1200
			6: 115200
			7: 57600
			8: 600

b: 0: NONE
1: EVEN
2: ODD
c: 0: 8 BITS
1: 7 BITS
d: 0: 1 BIT
1: 2 BITS

TABLE 2

8 bit data	Symbol Set	7 bit data	Symbol set
(a=0)	(Code page)	(a=1)	
b=0	English (437)	b=0	USASCII
b=1	Latin 1 (850)	b=1	British
b=2	Slavic (852)	b=2	German
b=3	Portugal (860)	b=3	French
b=4	Canadian/French	b=4	Danish
	(863)		
b=5	Nordic (865)	b=5	Italian
b=6	Turkish (857)	b=6	Spanish
b=7	Icelandic (861)	b=7	Swedish
b=8	Hebrew (862)	b=8	Swiss
b=9	Cyrillic (855)		
b=10	Cyrillic CIS		
	1(866)		
b=11	Greek (737)		
b=12	Greek 1 (851)		
b=13	Greek 2 (869)		
b=14	Latin 1 (1252)		
b=15	Latin 2 (1250)		
b=16	Cyrillic (1251)		
b=17	Greek (1253)		
b=18	Turkish (1254)		
b=19	Hebrew (1255)		

13. ETHERNET PRINTER STATUS/ACTIVITY INDICATORS

13.1 Ethernet Module Status/Activity indicators

LED Status	Description				
Both Off	No Ethernet link detected.				
Green	Speed LED	On: 100 Mbps link			
		Off: 10 Mbps link			
Amber	Link/Activity LED	On: link up			
		Off: link down			
		Flash: activity			





13.2 Ethernet Printer Status/Activity indicators

LED Status	Blinking LED	Description
Wait for Ready	REAEY	The printer waits for printer ready.
		It will take about 20 seconds for ready.

14. HOW TO GET IP ADDRESS

Printer can get IP addresses from the following modes:

A. Using router or similar device to assign IP address to printer

- 1. Connect PC and printer individually with Internet cable to Router LAN port.
- 2. In **Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties**, "IP address" and "DNS server address" must be set as automatically.(*Note: Don't forget to take down the related information of static IP address before setting, if PC is assigned static IP address.*)

Local Area Connection 2 Prop General Authentication Advanced	erties ? 🗙	💌 🄁 Go
Connect using:		
White Accelerated AMD PCN	et Ad	
This connection uses the following iten	15:	
Client for Microsoft Networks		
■ Mos Packet Scheduler	crosoft Networks	
✓ There Protocol (TCP/IP)	nternet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties	
	General Alternate Configuration	
Pescription Transmission Control Protocol/Integration wide area network protocol that p across diverse interconnected ne Show icon in notification area wh Notify me when this connection h	You can get IP settings assigned automatica this capability. Otherwise, you need to ask yo the appropriate IP settings. Obtain an IP address automatically Use the following IP address: IP address: Subnet mask: Default gateway:	lly if your network supports uur network administrator for
	Obtain DNS server address automatical	lly
	OUse the following DNS server addresse	s:
	Preferred DNS server:	2 2 2
Called a Marine and American	Alternate DNS server:	
A CONTRACT OF STREET		Advanced
把你们的是一般你 是		OK Cancel

3. Search IP address which Router assigned to printer. Take Router (3COM WL-602) for example: run the internet browser and type default IP address to open the route's homepage(*The default IP address of this router's homepage is http://192.168.1.1*)

🗿 3Com - Wireless 11n	Firewall Router - Microsoft Internet Explorer		
File Edit View Favorite	s Tools Help		1
🔇 Back 🔹 🕥 - 💌] 😰 🏠 🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🤣 🎯 🍛 🔜 🚳		
Address 🕘 http://192.168.1	.1/login.stm?auto_logout=1	🔁 Go	Links »
<i>۵</i> ۵	Cable/DSL Wireless 11n Firewall Route	r	
3COM	Login Screen		
	Enter System Password		
	System Password (default:admin)		
	Log in Cancel		
	Note: The password is case sensitive. Click <u>here</u> if you can't remember the password.		

When turn on the printer, READY LED will blink and user must wait for about 20 seconds for ready.

- 4. First click **Log in** to enter main menu, then click **LAN setting** to enter system status menu.
- 5. Click **DHCP Clients List** will see the printer IP addresses which assign to PC.

🗿 3Com - Wireless 11n Firewall Router - Microsoft Internet Explorer											
File Edit View Favorite	es Tools	Help									
🕝 Back 👻 🜍 🕤 🗴	🚱 Back 🔹 💿 - 🖹 🗟 🏠 🔎 Search 🡷 Favorites 🍻 🎯 + 🌺 🔜 🆓										
Address 실 http://192.168.1	.1/main_fra	me_admin1	.stm						*	🔁 Go 🛛 L	.inks »
<i>۵</i> ۵	Cab	ole/C	SL	Wirele	ess 11n F	irewa	all Ro	uter			^
3COM	L	AN S	etti	ngs							
000011	Unit C	onfigura	tion	DHCP Clie	ents List						
Welcome								Client			
LAN Settings		IP	Addres	S	Host Name	MAC	Address	Туре	Fix	Configu	re
Wireless Settings	192.16	58.1.2			Net Printer	00-11-E	5-08-17-0E	LAN		Release	e
Internet Settings	192.16	58.1.4			sylvia-xp	00-15-58	3-BB-A7-A0	LAN		Release	
Firewall					Contraction of the	Storecovercovers	Creaking Con	102.004565965			
Advanced	Fixed	IP Set	ting								
VPN		IP.	Addres	s		MAC Add	dress				
System Tools	192	. 168	.1]		-	-		Add	
Statuc and Logo											
Support/Feedback											
LOG OUT	<				Sijii				1		>
	Status :	Ready									
8									Interr	net	

A Note: when the printer gets assigned IP address, user is suggested not to

change the IP address easily, or this step will delay the time for printer ready.

B. Use the Ethernet card static IP address

Connect printer and PC with cable and turn on the printer for about 1 minute. The printer will get the default IP addresses 192.168.1.100 by itself. The default IP address can be modified, and the former 3 sections of IP address for PC should be the same with printer's (ex. 192.168.1.xxx) and subnet mask should be 255.255.255.0 to connect correctly.

meral 'ou can get IP settings assigne his capability. Otherwise, you n he appropriate IP settings.	d automatically if your network supports eed to ask your network administrator for		
🔿 Obtain an IP address auto	matically		
Subsethe following IP addre	SS:		
IP address:	192 . 168 . 1 . 194		
Subnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 0		
Default gateway:			
 Obtain DNS server addres Output the following DNS server 	s automatically ver addresses:		
Preferred DNS server:	<u> </u>		

C. Send additional commands to set IP address through other communication interface (USB, RS-232 etc.)

<<u>ESC>KJPETHERNET</u><ESC>KJQETHERNET

15. ETHERNET INFORMATION AND SETTING

1. Run a browser and key in the printer IP address then **SERVER STATUS** and **PRINTER STATUS** will be displayed.





2. Set the way that Ethernet card assign IP address to PC and related setting in "CONFIG" - **TCP/IP Configuration** page.

General Configuration	Set TCP/IP Config	guration	
TCP/IP	TCP/IP		
	O Automatically get IP	by DHCP	
User Accounts	Manual DNS		
Restart Server	Static IP		
Maintenance	IP Address	192.168.1.100	
	Subnet Mask	255.255.255.0	
<u> </u>	Default Gateway		
	DNS Server		
	Enable Raw TCP/Je	tDirect Printing	
	TCP Port	9100	

3. Upgrade firmware of Ethernet card/printer in **Maintenance** page.

SERVER STATUS PRINTER STATUS CONFIG						
General Configuration	Maintenance					
TCP/IP	Server					
Wireless	Factory Default					
User Accounts	Upgrade Firmware					
Restart Server	Brintor					
Maintenance	Factory Default					
	Upgrade Firmware					

- > The accumulative time will be recount if the printer shut down. (You can get this information above from default webpage or else webpage.)
- Any status monitor (include Bartender status monitor) must be closed when upgrading firmware of Ethernet card/printer.
- Upgrading Ethernet module firmware or changing IP address, restart the printer and wait for about 1 minute; you will get the latest Ethernet module firmware version or IP address by printing self-test.

16. ETHERNET PORT SETTING

- 1. Mouse right-click button on chosen printer, then click **Printer properties** and select **Ports** tab.
- 2. Add New Port and select Standard TCP/IP Port.

General	Sharing	Ports	Advanced	Fonts	Tools Ab	out
2	Printer I	Ports				? 🛽
~	Available	port typ	bes:			
Print t check	Local Poi Standard ThinPrint	t I TCP/IF Print Po	Port ort Monitor for	:VMWar	e	
	New P SB Virti PVM: Thi	ort Type Jal printe	er er port fo A int Port f	Ne Argox X-3 #VMwa	ew Port 2300E series reVirtualPrint	Cancel
	Add Port		Delete P	ort	Confi <u>c</u>	ure Port
Ena Ena	ble printer p	ional sup booling	port			

3. After clicking **New Port**, **Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard** windows will show. Then press the **Next** button on the windows.

General Sharing Por Argox X-2300E s Printer Ports Argox X-230 Argox X-300 Argox X-300 Argox X-300 Argox X-300 Argox X-300 Argox X-300 Argo	itor for VMWare
Add Standard TCP/IP Print Print to the folk checked port COM1: COM2: COM3: COM4: FILE: USB TPVM: Add Por Add Por Enable bidir Enable print	ter Port Wizard Welcome to the Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard You use this wizard to add a port for a network printer. Before continuing be sure that: 1. The device is turned on. 2. The network is connected and configured.
	To continue, click Next.

4. Input IP address then press the **Next** button.

🗳 Argox X-23	00E si Printer Ports	? 🗙
General Sharin	Ig Por Available port types: Local Port Standard TCP/IP Port	
	Add Standard TCP/IP Printer	Port Wizard 🛛 🕅
Print to the for checked por	Add Port For which device do you want	t to add a port?
	Enter the Printer Name or IP a	ddress, and a port name for the desired device.
	Printer Name or IP Address:	192.168.1.100
FILE: USB TPVM: Add P	Port Name:	IP_192.168.1.100
Enable bio		
Land L		< Back Next > Cancel

5. Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard windows show and choose Device Type as Standard then press the Next button.

General Sharing	OE s Printer Ports ? X Por Available port types: Local Port Standard TCP/IP Port dd Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard	
Print to the for checked por	Additional Port Information Required The device could not be identified.	
	 The device is not found on the network. Be sure that: The device is turned on. The network is connected. The device is properly configured. The address on the previous page is correct. If you think the address is not correct, click Back to return to the previous page. Then correct the address and perform another search on the network. If you are sure the address is correct, select the device type below. 	
Enable bid	Standard Generic Network Card Custom Settings	
General Sharing Por Availab Local F Argan Magar Add Standard	e port types: ort rd TCP/IP Port TCP/IP Printer Port Wi	zard
--	---	--
Print to the for checked por Port COM1:	Comple TCP/II You have se	eting the Add Standard P Printer Port Wizard lected a port with the following characteristics.
□ COM2: □ COM3: □ COM4: □ FILE: ☑ USB □ TPVM: Add P(SNMP: Protocol: Device: Port Name: Adapter Typ	No RAW, Port 9100 192.168.1.100 IP_192.168.1.100 e: Generic Network Card
Enable bio Enable pri	To complete	this wizard, click Finish.

6. Press the **Finish** button to complete the setting.

7. Back to the printer properties windows and set related setting.

Argox X-2	SOUL SELLE	S PPLD PI	operne	+5		
General Sha	ring Ports	Advanced	Fonts	Tools	About	
Print to the fo	jox X-2300E Illowing port(s	series PPLB	s will print	to the fir	st free	
checked por Port	t. Description		Printer			~
☐ COM4. ☐ FILE: ☐ USB ☐ TPVM: ☐ IP_1 ☐ IP_1	Print to File Virtual printe ThinPrint Pr Standard TI Standard TI	er port fo int Port f CP/IP Port CP/IP Port CP/IP Port	_#VMwa Argox X- Argox CF	areVirtual 2300E se 2-2140E f	Printer ries PPLB PPLB	
Add Po	ort	Delete	Port] [c	onfigure Po	ort
Enable bio	firectional sup nter pooling	oport				

8. After choosing Raw(R) or LPR (L) in Protocol frame the setting will be completed.

8-1 The setting of Raw(R) is as bellow:

onfigure Standard TC	CP/IP P	ort Monitor	2
Port Settings			
Port Name:		IP_192.168.1.100	
Printer Name or IP Addres	SS:	192.168.1.100	
Protocol			
💿 Raw		🔘 LPR	
- Raw Settings			
Port Number:	9100		
LPR Settings			
Queue Name:			
LPR Byte Counting	Enabled		
SNMP Status Enabl	led		
Community Name:	public		-
CNMP Device Indev	14		-

8-2 The setting of LPR (L) is as bellow:

eneral Sharing Ports	Advance	ed Fonts Tools About	
onfigure Standard T(CP/IP Po	ort Monitor	?
Port Settings			
Port Name:		IP_192.168.1.100	
Printer Name or IP Addre	SS:	192.168.1.100	
Protocol O Raw		⊙ LPR	
Raw Settings Port Number:	9100		
LPR Settings Queue Name:	USB1_ Enabled	LQ	
SNMP Status Enab	led		
Community Name:	public		
SNMP Device Index:	1		

A Note:

Because LPR (L) doesn't support bidirectional function, you must disable bidirectional function.

àeneral Sha	ring Ports	Advanced	I Fonts	Tools About	-
Ang Ang	gox X-2300E	series PPLB	Ś		
Print to the fo	bllowing port(s). Documen	ts will prin	t to the first free	
Port	Description	¢.	Printer		~
□ COM4: □ FILE: □ USB □ TPVM: □ IP_1 □ IP_1	Print to File Virtual printe ThinPrint Pr Standard TI Standard TI Standard TI	er port fo int Port f CP/IP Port CP/IP Port CP/IP Port	_#VMww Argox X- Argox Cl	areVirtualPrinter 2300E series PPLB P-2140E PPLB	
Add Pi	ort	Delete	Port	Configure Po	ort
🔲 Enable pri	nter pooling				

9. LPR setting is completed.

17. RESET ETHERNET CARD

When IP address setting is completed, user must restart the printer to check IP address on webpage. If the printer can't get correct IP address, please reset or <u>reboot</u> Ethernet Card.

Reset Ethernet Card Procedure

- 1. Take off all the printer covers.
- 2. Turn on printer and then press the Ethernet card RESET button for 2 seconds.
- 3. Restart the printer.



Figure 17.1

18. REBOOT ETHERNET CARD

When Ethernet card is abnormal, we can recover it by following steps.

- 1. Take off all covers of the printer.
- 2. Press and hold the RESET button of Ethernet card (see Figure 17.1), and then turn on the printer. After 3 seconds, release the button. At this time, the Ethernet card enters **boot loader** and Green LED shows only.
- 3. It can be checked if Ethernet card enter boot loader or not by sending the DOS command **ping 192.168.1.100**.



 Download Ethernet card firmware by sending tftp –i 192.168.1.100 put ARGOX_v0.71, and wait for 40 seconds to let Ethernet card restart automatically until Amber LED blinks and Green LED shows. (ARGOX_v0.71 is Ethernet card firmware and should be placed in corresponding work directory).

C:\><mark>tftp -i 192.168.1.100 put argox_v0.71</mark> Transfer successful: 1814540 bytes in 1 second, 1814540 bytes/s

19. PRINTER UTILITY

19.1. Download/Upgrade firmware

1. Choose what printer you want to upgrade firmware or send files, then select interface as LAN.



2. Input 「IP Address」. At this time, you can upgrade firmware or send files likes operating other printers.



19.2. Printer setting

If there is any error occurs, computers will receive error message though the Router at the same time. (Fig.19.2.1)



If printer connects PC with Internet cable directly (PC IP address must be set first); turn on printer, printer will search IP address automatically, then printer will ready to print after 1 minute. (Fig.19.2.2)



Fig.19.2.2

🐎 Printer Utility of Barcode Printer				
Setting Help				
Printer Setting Printer Getting Download PrinterInfo				
Printer Selection Model: X-2300E	Language	Unit	Printer Control Type	
Interface: LAN	C PPLB	C Millimeters	C Alternate I	
192 . 168 . 1 . 100	C PPLZ	C Pixel	C Alternate II	
Command I C Command II C Network	Desc	ription:		
Gap Label Gap Big Gap Detect Gap Through Area Back Gap Detection Cutter Cutter Cut Offset Cutter/Peeler Backfeed Cutter Mode Sensor Sensor Type Sensor Gain Calibration Calibration Length Calibration Mode Time Real-Time Clock Seleep Time	 Sett fund Eth C 	ing enable or disable tion. hernet SNMP: Disable	e ethernet SNMP	
Port Printer Serial Port Ethernet SNMP Seluctooth PIN Seluctooth Device Name Other		Tommand Reset	Send	

19.3. PrinterInfo

1. Press Search Net Printer button, PrinterInfo shows printer IP address.



2. Click \lceil Net Printer \rfloor , \lceil PrinterInfo \rfloor shows more information about the net printer.

3. Press 「Goto Homepage」 button and popup a webpage as below.





20. Self-test Information in Net Printer

20.1. Perform Self-test Diagnosis

Once the printer is first installed, a self test should be performed. To perform the self test, please follow the procedure:

- Turn off the power
- Load the media properly
- Press and hold the FEED key then turn on the power.
- Release the FEED key after printer starts to print.
- The configuration report should be printed as **Figure 20.1**.
- To return the printer to normal operation, please turn the power OFF and ON again or press the FEED key, otherwise the printer will enter dump mode, all input data will not be interpreted.
- Contents and Information of X-2300E "PPLB Self Test Label" are as the following:

1. Printer Version Information

This includes printer firmware version and date information.

2. Standard RAM Size

This message shows standard RAM size in the printer.

3. Available RAM Size

This message shows available memory can be used to hold the downloadable graphics, forms and soft fonts.

4. Flash Type

This message shows what flash type in printer.

5. Available Flash Size

This message shows available flash can be used to hold the downloadable graphics, forms and soft fonts.

6. Font Symbol Set

This message shows symbol set for font.

7. Print Mode

Direct thermal mode (without ribbon).

8. Sensor type

This message shows the sensor type such as reflective sensor.

9. Label-less Calibration Value

Used to check the printer perform label-less calibration or not. If not, it should be 8600.

10.RTC Time

This message shows time that the on-board RTC records.

11. Buzzer

This message shows that the buzzer function was enabled or not.

12.No. of DL Soft Fonts

This message shows the numbers of soft fonts downloaded in printer.

13.Int. fonts

This message shows what kind of Asia font downloaded in printer.

14. Cut Count

The message will show how many labels the printer cuts off.

15. Print Length Meter

It keeps the length printed in meters. With this, you may check the print head warranty. The value will not be reset even you replace the TPH or any components.

16.RS232 Protocols

It contains data frame of RS-232 interface: baud rate, parity, data bit, and stop bit.

17. Check Sum

Used to check the firmware flash is correct or not. It should be 0000.

18. Speed/Darkness

Printer speed/darkness setting.

19. Media Type

The message shows media type of this printer.

20. Label Length

The message shows label length in printer.

21. Backfeed Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable when printing.

22. Cutter Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable during cutter is enabling.

23. Peeler Disable/Enable

This message shows backfeed disable/enable during peeler is enabling.

24. Cutter/Peeler Offset value

This will show cutter/peeler offset information.

25.R(X,Y)=

This message shows X and Y coordinates of the origin point.

26. H. position adjust

This message shows horizontal offset about location of printing.

27. Calibration Type Mode

There are four calibration type modes; in this message you can get what mode is used.

28. Ethernet Module Version Information

This includes Ethernet Module version.

29.IP Address

This message shows IP Address status and for PC recognize.

30. Subnet Mask

A logically visible, distinctly addressed part of a single <u>Internet Protocol</u> network.^[1] The process of sub netting is the division of a <u>computer network</u> into groups of computers that have a common, designated <u>IP address</u> routing prefix.

31. Gateway

A point of entry or exit at which a <u>gate</u> may be hung.

32. Mac Address

MAC address is a unique identifier assigned to most network adapters or network interface cards (NICs) by the manufacturer for identification, and used in the Media Access Control protocol sub-layer.

33. SNMP

(Please refer to 19.2. Printer setting)

34. DIP switch

Sw2	ON	OFF
1	No use	No use
2	No use	No use
3	Factory test	Normal
4	No use	No use
5	Add on card	Normal

35. Font Image

Used to check Internal Fonts are correct or not.

Label Printer with Firmware 1 X2300-B01.00 080310 00 STANDARD RAM: 16M BYTES 2 AVAILABLE RAM: 13930K BYTES 3 FLASH TYPE: ON BOARD 8M BYTES 4 AVAILABLE FLASH: 6143K BYTES 5 8 bit data: Code Page 437 6 THERMAL TRANSFER 7 SEE-THROUGH SENSOR (NORMAL) 8 REF:2000 SEE:4F64 9 NO. OF DL SOFT FONTS : Ø 10 RTC CHIP INSTALL RTC TIME : 2/26/2010 10:45:55 11 Int.fonts:NO ANY INTERNAL FONTS 12 CUT COUNT: 0 13 PRINT LENGTH METER: 0 M 14 RS232 : 9600, 8, N, 1P 15 CHECKSUM : 0000 16 DARKNESS: 8 SPEED: 3IPS 17 MEDIA TYPE: GAP 18 PRINT WIDTH: 800 19 LABEL LENGTH: 80 20 BACKFEED DISABLE 21 CUTTER DISABLE 22 PEELER DISABLE 23 CUTTER/PEELER OFFSET: 0 24 R(X,Y) = R(0,0)25 H. POSITION ADJUST : 0000 26 CALIBRATION TYPE: MODE 1 27 M(0,0,0,0)Ethernet version: 0.90 28 < IP_address: 192,168,1,100 29 < Subnet_mask: 255, 255, 255, 0 30 ← 192,168,1,100 Gateway: 31 MAC_address:00-11-E5-01-81-56 32 ◄ SNMP: DISABLE 33 < s(0,0} U0,0.0,0,37888,0 0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0, ÖN OFF | o | o | 0 0 O 34 SW2 1 2 3 4 5 This is internal font 1. 0123456789 ABCebcXyz This is internal font 2. 0123456789 ABCab This is internal font 3. 0123456789 35← 01 internal font Thi is Figure 20.1.









